



Article On the 'Definability of Definable' Problem of Alfred Tarski[†]

Vladimir Kanovei *^{,‡} and Vassily Lyubetsky *^{,‡}

Institute for Information Transmission Problems of the Russian Academy of Sciences (Kharkevich Institute), 127051 Moscow, Russia

- * Correspondence: kanovei@iitp.ru (V.K.); lyubetsk@iitp.ru (V.L.)
- + Dedicated to the 70-th Anniversary of A. L. Semenov. The supplementary materials to this paper, published separately, include the Index.
- ‡ These authors contributed equally to this work.

Received: 14 November 2020; Accepted: 7 December 2020; Published: 14 December 2020



Abstract: In this paper we prove that for any $m \ge 1$ there exists a generic extension of **L**, the constructible universe, in which it is true that the set of all constructible reals (here subsets of ω) is equal to the set \mathbf{D}_{1m} of all reals definable by a parameter free type-theoretic formula with types bounded by m, and hence the Tarski 'definability of definable' sentence $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ (even in the form $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{21}$) holds for this particular m. This solves an old problem of Alfred Tarski (1948). Our methods, based on the almost-disjoint forcing of Jensen and Solovay, are significant modifications and further development of the methods presented in our two previous papers in this Journal.

Keywords: definability of definable; tarski problem; type theoretic hierarchy; generic models; almost disjoint forcing

MSC: 03E15; 03E35

Contents

1	Introduction			
	1.1	The Problem	3	
	1.2	Further Reformulations and Harrington's Statement	3	
	1.3	The Main Theorem	4	
	1.4	Structure of the Proof	5	
	Flow	vchart	6	
2	Preliminaries			
	2.1	Definability Issues	7	
	2.2	Constructibility Issues	7	
	2.3	Type-Theoretic Definability vs. ∈-Definability	8	
	2.4	Reduction to the Powerset Definability	9	
	2.5	A Useful Result in Forcing Theory	10	
	2.6	Definable Names	11	
	2.7	Collapse Forcing	13	

3	Aln	nost Disjoint Forcing, Uncountable Version	13		
	3.1	Introduction to almost Disjoint Forcing	13		
	3.2	Product Almost Disjoint Forcing	15		
	3.3	Structure of Product almost Disjoint Generic Extensions	16		
4	The Forcing Notion and the Model				
	4.1	Systems, Definability Aspects	17		
	4.2	Complete Sequences	17		
	4.3	Preservation of the Completeness	19		
	4.4	Key Definability Engine	20		
	4.5	We Specify Ω	22		
	4.6	The Model	23		
5	Forcing Approximation 2				
	5.1	Language	25		
	5.2	Forcing Approximation	26		
	5.3	Consequences for the Complete Forcing Notions	27		
	5.4	Truth Lemma	27		
6	Invariance				
	6.1	Hidden Invariance	28		
	6.2	The Invariance Theorem	29		
	6.3	Proof of Theorem 9 from the Invariance Theorem	29		
	6.4	The Invariance Theorem: Setup	30		
	6.5	Transformation	30		
	6.6	Finalization	32		
7	Cor	nclusions and Discussion	33		
Re	References				

References

1. Introduction

This paper continues our research project on the issues of definability in models of set theory, that was started in [1-3] among other papers, and most recently in [4,5] in this Journal. Questions of definability of mathematical objects were raised in the course of discussions on the foundations of mathematics, set theory, and the axiom of choice in the early twentieth century, such as, for instance, the famous discussion between Baire, Borel, Hadamard, and Lebesgue published in Sing lettres [6]. Various aspects of definability in models of set theory have since remained the focus of work on the foundations of mathematics, see, for example, [7–13] among many important recent studies.

The topic of this paper goes back to the profound research by Alfred Tarski, who demonstrated in [14] that 'being definable' (in most general, unrestricted sense) is not a mathematically well-defined notion (see Murawski [15] on the history of this discovery and the role of Gödel, and Addison [16] on the modern perspective of the Tarski definability theory). More specificly, restricted notions of definability, in particular, type-theoretic definability, were considered by Tarski in [17] and later work in [18].

Definition 1 (Tarski). If $m, k < \omega$ then \mathbf{D}_{km} is the set of all elements of order k, definable by a parameter free type-theoretic formula of order m.

Here elements of order 0 are just natural numbers (members of the set $\omega = \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$), elements of order 1 are sets of natural numbers (commonly called *reals* in modern set theory), and generally, elements of order k + 1 ($k < \omega$) are arbitrary sets of elements of order k (see details in

Section 2.1 below). The order of a type-theoretic formula is the largest order of all its quantified and free variables. The notion of definability is taken in the form:

$$x^{k} = \{y^{k-1} \text{ of order } k-1 : \varphi(y^{k-1})\},$$
(1)

where the upper index routinely denotes the order of a variable or element.

1.1. The Problem

Investigating the definability properties of sets \mathbf{D}_{km} , Tarski notes in [18] that $\mathbf{D}_{km} \in \mathbf{D}_{k+1,m+1}$. To prove this result, one can exploit the fact that the truth of all formulas of order m can be suitably expressed by a single formula of order m + 1. Using such a formula, one easily gets $\mathbf{D}_{km} \in \mathbf{D}_{k+1,m+1}$. Then Tarski turns to the question whether a stronger sentence $\mathbf{D}_{km} \in \mathbf{D}_{k+1,m}$ holds. Tarski comes to the following conclusion (verbatim):

the solution of the problem is (trivially) positive if k = 0; the solution is negative if $k \ge 2$; in the (perhaps most interesting) case k = 1 the problem remains open.

The negative result for $k \ge 2$ (and $m \ge k - 1$, to avoid trivialities) is obtained in [18] (page 110) essentially by virtue of the fact that countable ordinals admit a definable embedding into the set of all elements of order 2. This leaves:

$$\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m} \quad (m \ge 1) \tag{2}$$

as a major open problem in [18].

Tarski notes in [18], with a reference to Gödel's work on constructibility [19], that it seems:

very unlikely that an affirmative solution of the problem is possible.

Tarski does not elaborate on this point, but it is quite clear that the axiom of constructibility $\mathbf{V} = \mathbf{L}$ (and even a weaker hypothesis, see Lemma 2 below) implies $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \notin \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ for all $m \ge 1$, and hence no proof of $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ for even one single $m \ge 1$ (the "affirmative solution" in Tarski's words), can be maintained in **ZFC**. In other words, the hypothesis:

$$\mathbf{D}_{1m} \notin \mathbf{D}_{2m}$$
 holds for all $m \geq 1$

(the negative solution of (2) for all $m \ge 1$ simultaneously) does not contradict the **ZFC** axioms. The problem of consistency of the affirmative sentences $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ was left open in [18].

This paper is devoted to this problem of Alfred Tarski.

1.2. Further Reformulations and Harrington's Statement

The problem emerged once again in the early years of forcing, especially in the case m = 1 corresponding to analytic definability in second-order arithmetic. The early survey [20] by A. R. D. Mathias (the original typescript has been known to set theorists since 1968) contains Problem 3112, that requires finding a model of **ZFC** in which it is true that:

the set of analytically definable reals is analytically definable

that is, $D_{11} \in D_{21}$. Recall that *reals* in this context mean subsets of ω . Another problem there, P 3110, suggests a sharper form of this statement, namely; find a model in which it is true that

analytically definable reals are precisely the constructible reals

that is, $\mathbf{D}_{11} = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$. The set $\mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$ of all constructible reals is (lightface) Σ_2^1 , and hence \mathbf{D}_{21} , so that the equality $\mathbf{D}_{11} = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$ implies $\mathbf{D}_{11} \in \mathbf{D}_{21}$, that is the case m = 1 of the sentence (2).

Somewhat later, Problem 87 in Harvey Friedman's survey *One hundred and two problems in mathematical logic* [21] requires to prove that for each *n* in the domain $2 < n \le \omega$ there is a model of:

ZFC + "the constructible reals are precisely the
$$\Delta_n^1$$
 reals". (3)

For $n \leq 2$ this is definitely impossible by the Shoenfield absoluteness theorem. As Δ_{ω}^{1} is the same as \mathbf{D}_{11} = all analytically definable reals, the case $n = \omega$ in (3) is just a reformulation of $\mathbf{D}_{11} = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$.

At the very end of [21], it is noted that Leo Harrington had solved problem (3) affirmatively. A similar remark, see in [20] (p. 166), a comment to P 3110. And indeed, Harrington's handwritten notes [22] present the following major result quoted here verbatim:

Theorem 1 (Harrington [22] (p. 1)). *There are models of* **ZFC** *in which the set of constructible reals is, respectively, exactly the following set of reals*:

$$\Delta_3^1, \Delta_4^1, \ldots, \Delta_{\omega}^1 = projective, \Delta_n^m, \ 1 \le n \le \omega, \ 2 \le m \le \omega.$$

We may note that $\Delta_{\omega}^1 = \mathbf{D}_{11}$ and generally $\Delta_{\omega}^m = \mathbf{D}_{1m}$ for any $m \ge 2$ in the context of Theorem 1. On the other hand the set $\mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$ of constructible reals is Σ_2^1 , and hence \mathbf{D}_{21} . Therefore Theorem 1 implies the consistency of the affirmative sentences $\mathbf{D}_1 \in \mathbf{D}_2$ and $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ for any particular value $m \ge 1$, and hence shows that the Tarski problems considered are independent of **ZFC**.

Based on the almost-disjoint forcing tool of Jensen and Solovay [23], a sketch of a generic extension of **L**, in which it is true that $\omega^{\omega} \cap \mathbf{L} = \Delta_3^1$, follows in [22] (pp. 2–4). Then a few sentences are added on page 5 of [22], which explain, without much going into details, as how Harrington planned to get some other models claimed by the theorem, in particular, a model in which $\omega^{\omega} \cap \mathbf{L} = \Delta_n^1$ holds for a given (arbitrary) natural index n > 3, and a model in which $\omega^{\omega} \cap \mathbf{L} = \Delta_{\omega}^1$, where $\Delta_{\omega}^1 = \bigcup_n \Delta_n^1 = \mathbf{D}_{11}$ (all analytically definable reals). This positively solves Problem 87 of [21], including the case $n = \omega$, of course. Different cases of higher order definability are briefly observed in [22] (p. 5) as well.

Yet, for all we know, no detailed proofs have ever emerged in Harrington's published works. An article by Harrington, entitled "Consistency and independence results in descriptive set theory", which apparently might have contained these results among others, was announced in the References list in Peter Hinman's book [24] (p. 462) to appear in *Ann. of Math.*, 1978, but in fact this or a similar article has never been published in *Annals of Mathematics* or any other journal. Some methods sketched in [22] were later used in [25], but with respect to different questions and only in relation to the definability classes of the 2nd and 3rd projective level.

1.3. The Main Theorem

The goal of this paper is to present a complete proof of the following part of Harrington's statement in Theorem 1, related to the consistency of the Tarski sentence $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ and the equality $\mathbf{D}_{1m} = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$, strengthened by extra claims (ii) and (iii). This is **the main result** of this paper.

Theorem 2. Let $\mathbb{M} \geq 1$. There is a generic extension of **L** in which it is true that

- (i) D_{1M} = 𝒫(ω) ∩ L, that is, constructible reals are precisely reals in D_{1M} in particular, D_{1M} is a Σ¹₂ set, hence, D_{1M} ∈ D₂₁, and even moreso, D_{1M} ∈ D_{2M};
- (ii) if $n \neq \mathbb{M}$ then $\mathbf{D}_{1n} \notin \mathbf{D}_{2n}$;
- (iii) the general continuum hypothesis GCH holds.

Thus, for every particular $\mathbb{M} \geq 1$, there exists a generic extension of **L** in which the Tarski sentence $\mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}} \in \mathbf{D}_{2\mathbb{M}}$ holds whereas $\mathbf{D}_{1n} \notin \mathbf{D}_{2n}$ for all other values $n \neq \mathbb{M}$. We recall that $\mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}} \in \mathbf{D}_{2\mathbb{M}}$ fails in **L** itself for all \mathbb{M} , see above.

Corollary 1. If $\mathbb{M} \geq 1$ then the sentence $\mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}} \in \mathbf{D}_{2\mathbb{M}}$ is undecidable in **ZFC**, even in the presence of $\forall n \neq \mathbb{M} (\mathbf{D}_{1n} \notin \mathbf{D}_{2n})$.

This paper is dedicated to the proof of Theorem 2. This will be another application of the methods sketched by Harrington and developed in detail in our previous papers [4,5] in this Journal, but here modified and further developed for the purpose of a solution to the Tarski problem.

We may note that problems of construction of models of set theory in which this or another effect is obtained at a certain prescribed definability level (not necessarily the least possible one) are considered in modern set theory, see e.g., Problem 9 in [26] (Section 9) or Problem 11 in [27] (page 209). Some results of this type have recently been obtained in set theory, namely:

- (A) a model [3] in which, for a given $n \ge 3$, there exists a countable non-empty Π_n^1 set of reals, containing no OD element, while every countable Σ_n^1 set of reals contains only OD reals;
- (B) a model [28] in which, for a given $n \ge 2$, there is a Π_n^1 real singleton that effectively codes a cofinal map $\omega \to \omega_1^{\mathbf{L}}$, minimal over \mathbf{L} , while every Σ_n^1 real is constructible;
- (C) a model [29] in which, for a given $n \ge 2$, there exists a planar non-ROD-uniformizable lightface Π_n^1 set, all of whose vertical cross-sections are countable, whereas all boldface Σ_n^1 sets with countable cross-sections are Δ_{n+1}^1 -uniformizable;
- (D) a model [30] in which, for a given $n \ge 3$, the Separation principle fails for Π_n^1 .

Theorem 2 of this paper naturally extends this research line.

1.4. Structure of the Proof

To define a model for Theorem 2, we employ the product of two forcing notions. The first forcing \mathbb{C} is a Cohen-style collapse forcing that adjoins a generic collapse map $\zeta : \omega \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \Xi = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$, Section 2.7. The collapse is necessary since any model for Theorem 2 has to satisfy the inequality $\omega_1^{\mathbf{L}} < \omega_1$.

The second forcing notion has the form of the product $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} = \prod_{n,i < \omega} \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}(n,i) \in \mathbf{L}$, where each factor $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega}(n,i)$ is an almost-disjoint type forcing determined by a set:

$$\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}(n,i) \in \mathbf{L}$$
, $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}(n,i) \subseteq \mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega} = (\Omega^{\Omega}) \cap \mathbf{L}$,

dense in **Fun**_Ω, where $\Omega = \omega_{\mathbb{M}}^{\mathbf{L}}$ and $\mathbb{M} \ge 1$ is the number we are dealing with in Theorem 2. This forcing \mathbb{P}^{Ω} adjoins an according system of generic sets $S(n, i) \subseteq \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega} = (\Omega^{<\Omega}) \cap \mathbf{L}$, such that:

(*) if $f \in \operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega}$ in L then S(n,i) covers f (that is, $f \upharpoonright \xi \in S(n,i)$ for unbounded-many $\xi < \Omega$) iff $f \notin \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}(n,i)$ (Lemma 15).

Basically any *system* $U \in \mathbf{L}$ of dense sets $U(n, i) \subseteq \operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega}$ defines a similar product forcing $\mathbf{P}[U] = \prod_{n,i < \omega} P[U(n,i)] \in \mathbf{L}$ (see Section 3.2). Forcing notions of the form $\mathbf{P}[U]$ satisfy certain chain and distributivity conditions in \mathbf{L} (Lemma 14), that imply some general properties of related generic extensions (Lemmas 15 and 16).

The key system \mathbb{U}^{Ω} is defined in Section 4.4 (Definition 6, on the base of Theorem 6 in Section 4.2), in the form of componentwise union $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega} = \bigvee_{\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}} \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\alpha}$, i.e., $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}(n,i) = \bigcup_{\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}} \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\alpha}(n,i)$ for all $n, i < \omega$, where $\Omega^{\oplus} = \omega_{\mathbb{M}+1}^{\mathbf{L}}$ is the L-cardinal next to Ω , and the systems $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\alpha} \in \mathbf{L}$ are:

- *Increasing*, i.e., $\mathbb{U}^{\mathbb{D}}_{\alpha}(n,i) \subseteq \mathbb{U}^{\mathbb{D}}_{\gamma}(n,i)$ for all $\alpha < \gamma$ and $n, i < \omega$,
- Small, i.e., card $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\alpha}(n,i) \leq \Omega$ in L for all $n, i < \omega$, and,
- *Disjoint*, i.e., the components $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\alpha}(n, i)$ are pairwise disjoint.

We apply a diamond-based argument in Section 4 to ensure that the resulting system $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega} \in \mathbf{L}$ has its different *slices* $\{\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}(n,i)\}_{i<\omega}$ $(n < \omega)$ satisfying different definability and inner genericity requirements (Theorem 6 in Section 4.2), so that the descriptive complexity and the level of inner genericity (or completeness) of *n* th 'slice' tends to infinity with $n \to \infty$. This is a major novelty of the construction.

Then we consider the key product forcing notion $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} = \mathbf{P}[\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}] = \prod_{n,i < \omega} \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}(n,i)$. We extend **L** by a collapse-generic map $\boldsymbol{\zeta} : \omega \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$ to **L**, as above, and define the partial product $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright \boldsymbol{w} = \prod_{\langle n,i \rangle \in \boldsymbol{w}} \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}(n,i) \in \mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$ as a forcing notion in $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$, where:

$$\boldsymbol{w} = \boldsymbol{w}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}] = \{ \langle n, i \rangle : n \in \omega \land i \in \boldsymbol{\zeta}(n) \}.$$

Adjoining a $(\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright w)$ -generic set *G* to $\mathbf{L}[\zeta]$, we get a model $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, G]$ for Theorem 2. In particular, if $x = \zeta(n) \in \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$, then *x* is definable in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, G]$ by means of the equivalence:

$$i \in x \iff \exists S \subseteq \operatorname{Seq}_{\mathbb{D}} \forall f \in \operatorname{Fun}_{\mathbb{D}} (S \text{ covers } f \text{ iff } f \notin \mathbb{U}^{\mathbb{D}}(n, i)),$$
 (4)

in which the implication \implies follows from (*) via S = S(n, i) (note that $S(n, i) \in \mathbf{L}[\zeta, G]$ since $\langle n, i \rangle \in w$ in case $i \in x = \zeta(n)$), whereas the inverse implication \iff is based on the completeness properties of the system \mathbb{U}^{Ω} . It also takes some effort to check that the right-hand side of (4) really defines a $\mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}}$ relation in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, G]$; for that purpose Theorem 3 is proved beforehand in Section 2.3.

To prove that, conversely, every $x \in \mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}}$ in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, G]$ belongs to \mathbf{L} , we introduce *forcing approximations* in Section 5, a forcing-like relation used to prove the elementary equivalence theorem. Its key advantage is the invariance under some transformations, including the permutations of the index set \mathcal{I} , see Section 6.5. The actual forcing notion $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} = \mathbf{P}[\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}]$ is absolutely not invariant under permutations of \mathcal{I} , but the \mathbb{M} -completeness property, maintained through the inductive construction of \mathbb{U}^{Ω} in \mathbf{L} , allows us to prove that the auxiliary forcing is in the same relation to the truth in \mathbb{P}^{Ω} -generic extensions, as the true \mathbb{P}^{Ω} -forcing relation (Theorem 10). We call this construction *hidden invariance* (see Section 6.1), and this is the other major novelty of this paper.

Finally, Section 6 presents the proof of the invariance theorem (Theorem 11), with the help of forcing approximations, and thereby completes the proof of Theorem 2.

The flowchart of the proof can be seen in Figure 1 on page 6.



Figure 1. Flowchart of the proof of Theorem 2.

2. Preliminaries

This Section contains several definitions and results that will be very instrumental in the proof of Theorem 2.

2.1. Definability Issues

Beginning with the type-theoretic definability, we recall some details of Tarski's constructions from [18]. The type-theoretic language deals with variables x^k, y^k, \ldots of orders $k < \omega$, and includes the Peano arithmetic language for order 0 and the atomic predicate \in of membership used as $x^k \in y^{k+1}$. The *order* of a formula φ is equal to the highest order of all variables in φ . Variables of each order k can be substituted with elements of the corresponding iteration:

 $\mathscr{P}^{k}(\omega) = \underbrace{\mathscr{P}(\mathscr{P}(\ldots \mathscr{P}(\omega) \ldots))}_{k \text{ times the powerset operation } \mathscr{P}(\cdot)}, \text{ the set of all elements of order } k$

of the powerset operation. In particular, $\mathscr{P}^{0}(\omega) = \omega$ (natural numbers), $\mathscr{P}^{1}(\omega) = \mathscr{P}(\omega)$ (the reals), $\mathscr{P}^{2}(\omega) = \mathscr{P}(\mathscr{P}(\omega))$ (sets of reals), and so on. Accordingly each quantifier $\exists x^{k}, \forall x^{k}$ in a type-theoretic formula is naturally relativized to $\mathscr{P}^{k}(\omega)$, and the truth of a closed type-theoretic formula (with or without parameters) is understood in the sense of such a relativization.

If $k, m < \omega, k \ge 1$, then, by Definition 1, \mathbf{D}_{km} is the set of all $x^k \in \mathscr{P}^k(\omega)$, definable in the form:

$$x^{k} = \{y^{k-1} \in \mathscr{P}^{k-1}(\omega) : \varphi(y^{k-1})\}$$

by a parameter free formula φ of order $\leq m$; thus $\mathbf{D}_{km} \subseteq \mathscr{P}^k(\omega)$.

Remark 1. We will occasionally extend the definition of \mathbf{D}_{km} to binary relations, especially in the case k = 1. Namely a set $X \subseteq \mathscr{P}^{k-1}(\omega) \times \mathscr{P}^{k-1}(\omega)$ belongs to \mathbf{D}_{km} if it is definable by a parameter free formula of order $\leq m$ with two free variables.

In matters of \in -definability, we refer to e.g., [31] (Part B, 5.4), or [32] (Chapter 13) on the Lévy hierarchy of \in -formulas and definability classes Σ_n^H , Π_n^H , Δ_n^H for any transitive set H. In particular,

 Σ_n^H = all sets $X \subseteq H$, definable in H by a parameter-free Σ_n formula; $\Sigma_n(H)$ = all sets $X \subseteq H$ definable in H by a Σ_n formula with any sets in H as parameters.

Something like $\Sigma_n^H(x)$, $x \in H$, means that only x is admitted as a parameter, while $\Sigma_n^H(P)$, where $P \subseteq H$, means that all $x \in P$ can be parameters. Collections like Π_n^H , $\Pi_n^H(x)$, $\Pi_n^H(P)$ are defined similarly, and $\Delta_n^H = \Sigma_n^H \cap \Pi_n^H$, etc. These definitions usually work with transitive sets of the form:

 $H = \mathbf{H}\boldsymbol{\varkappa} = \{x : \operatorname{card}(\operatorname{TC}(x)) < \boldsymbol{\varkappa}\}, \text{ where } \boldsymbol{\varkappa} \text{ is an infinite cardinal,}$

and TC is *the transitive closure*. In particular, $HC = H\omega_1$, all heredidarily-countable sets.

2.2. Constructibility Issues

As usual, **L** is the constructible universe, and $<_{\rm L}$ will denote the Gödel wellordering of L. Let \varkappa be an infinite regular cardinal. The following are well-known facts in the theory of constructibility, see e.g., [33] and Lemma 6.3 ff in [31] (Section B.5):

1°. The set $\mathbf{H}_{\varkappa} \cap \mathbf{L}$ belongs to $\Sigma_1^{\mathbf{H}_{\varkappa}}$ and is equal to $(\mathbf{H}_{\varkappa})^{\mathbf{L}} = \mathbf{L}_{\varkappa}$.

2°. The restriction $<_L \upharpoonright (H\varkappa)^L$ is a wellordering of $(H\varkappa)^L$ of length \varkappa and a $\Delta_1^{(H\varkappa)^L}$ relation.

3°. On the other hand, the set $\mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$ and relation $<_{\mathbf{L}} \upharpoonright (\mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L})$ belong to Σ_2^1 and to \mathbf{D}_{21} .

4°. The map $x \mapsto \operatorname{pr} x = \{y : y <_{\mathbf{L}} x\} : (\mathbf{H}\varkappa)^{\mathbf{L}} \to (\mathbf{H}\varkappa)^{\mathbf{L}}$ is $\Delta_1^{(\mathbf{H}\varkappa)^{\mathbf{L}}}$ as well.

The last statement implies the following useful definability estimation.

5°. Assume that $m \ge 1$ and $P \subseteq (\mathbf{H}\varkappa)^{\mathbf{L}} \times (\mathbf{H}\varkappa)^{\mathbf{L}}$ is $\Delta_m^{(\mathbf{H}\varkappa)^{\mathbf{L}}}$. If $x \in D = \{x \in (\mathbf{H}\varkappa)^{\mathbf{L}} : \exists y P(x, y)\}$, then let $y_x \in (\mathbf{H}\varkappa)^{\mathbf{L}}$ be the $<_{\mathbf{L}}$ -least witness. Then $P' = \{\langle x, y_x \rangle : x \in D\} \subseteq P$ is $\Delta_m^{(\mathbf{H}\varkappa)^{\mathbf{L}}}$ as well.

Indeed $y = y_x$ is equivalent to $P(x, y) \land \forall z \in \operatorname{pr} y \neg P(x, z)$, where:

$$\forall z \in \operatorname{pr} y \neg P(x, z) \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \exists Z \left(Z = \operatorname{pr} y \land \forall z \in Z \neg P(x, z) \right) \\ \iff \quad \forall Z \left(Z = \operatorname{pr} y \Longrightarrow \forall z \in Z \neg P(x, z) \right),$$

and the bounded quantifiers $\forall z \in Z$ do not influence the definability class.

We proceed with several easy and rather known lemmas.

Lemma 1. Assume that $x, y \in \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$ and $y <_{\mathbf{L}} x$. Then $y \in \Delta_2^1(x)$, and hence if $y \in \mathbf{D}_{1n}$, $n \ge 1$, or $y \in \mathbf{D}_1$, then $x \in \mathbf{D}_{1n}$, resp., $x \in \mathbf{D}_1$ as well.

Proof. By the Shoenfield absoluteness, it suffices to prove that $y \in \Delta_2^1(x)$ is true in **L**.

We argue in L. Let $\varkappa = \omega_1$, so that $\mathbf{H}\varkappa = (\mathbf{H}\varkappa)^{\mathbf{L}} = \mathbf{H}\mathbf{C}$ (hereditarily countable). The set:

$$P = \{ \langle z, f \rangle : z \subseteq \omega \land f : \omega \to \mathscr{P}(\omega) \land \operatorname{ran} f = \operatorname{pr} z \}$$

belongs to Δ_1^{HC} by 4° since:

$$\operatorname{ran} f = \operatorname{pr} z \iff \exists u (u = \operatorname{pr} z \land \forall n (f(n) \in u) \land \forall z' \in u \exists n (f(n) = z'))$$
$$\iff \forall u (u = \operatorname{pr} z \Longrightarrow \forall n (f(n) \in u) \land \forall z' \in u \exists n (f(n) = z')).$$

Let f_z be the $\langle L$ -least f such that $\langle z, f \rangle \in P$; then $P' = \{\langle z, f_z \rangle : z \subseteq \omega\}$ is Δ_1^{HC} by 5°. It follows that f_x is $\Delta_1^{\text{HC}}(x)$ (with x as the only parameter). Therefore, as $y <_L x$, we have $y \in \Delta_1^{\text{HC}}(x)$ because $y = f_x(n)$ for some n. It follows that $y \in \Delta_2^1(x)$. (See e.g., [34] (p. 281) on this translation result.) \Box

Remark 2 (Essentially Tarski [18]). If $n \ge 1$ and $\omega_1^{\mathbf{L}} = \omega_1$ then $\mathbf{D}_{1n} \notin \mathbf{D}_{2n}$.

Proof. If $\omega_1^{\mathbf{L}} = \omega_1$ then the set $Y = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$ is uncountable. On the other hand $X = \mathbf{D}_{1n}$ is countable, hence $Z = Y \setminus X \neq \emptyset$. Note that $Y \in \mathbf{D}_{21}$ by 3° above. It follows that if $X \in \mathbf{D}_{2n}$ then Z belongs to \mathbf{D}_{2n} , too, and then the $<_{\mathbf{L}}$ -least element z_0 of the set Z belongs to \mathbf{D}_{1n} because $<_{\mathbf{L}}$ is \mathbf{D}_{21} on Y still by 3°. However $z_0 \notin X = \mathbf{D}_{1n}$ by construction. This is a contradiction. \Box

Lemma 2. If $1 \le n < m < \omega$ and $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \subseteq \mathbf{L}$, then $\mathbf{D}_{1n} \notin \mathbf{D}_{2n}$.

Proof. We have $\mathbf{D}_{1n} \subsetneq \mathbf{D}_{1m}$ since n < m. Therefore $\mathbf{D}_{1n} \subsetneq \mathbf{D}_{1m} \subseteq Y = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$. If, to the contrary, $\mathbf{D}_{1n} \in \mathbf{D}_{2n}$, then the set $Y \setminus \mathbf{D}_{1n}$ belongs to \mathbf{D}_{2n} as well since $Y \in \mathbf{D}_{21}$ by 3° above. We conclude that the $<_{\mathbf{L}}$ -least element $y_0 \in Y \setminus \mathbf{D}_{1n}$ belongs to \mathbf{D}_{1n} , because $<_{\mathbf{L}}$ is \mathbf{D}_{21} on Y by 3°. This is a contradiction since $z_0 \notin \mathbf{D}_{1n}$ by construction. \Box

2.3. *Type-Theoretic Definability vs.* \in -Definability

It occurs that the definability classes in sets of the form $H\varkappa$ correspond to the Tarski definability classes, in the sense of the following theorem:

Theorem 3. Assume that the generalized continuum hypothesis $2^{\vartheta} = \vartheta^+$ holds for all infinite cardinals $\vartheta < \omega_{m-1}$. If $m \ge 1$ and $x \subseteq \omega$, then x is \mathbf{D}_{1m} if x is \in -definable in $\mathbf{H}\omega_m$.

In case m = 1 (then $H\omega_m = H\omega_1 = HC$ and the GCH premice is vacuous), this result was explicitly mentioned, in [34] (p. 281), a detailed proof see e.g., [32] (Lemma 25.25).

Proof. The GCH premice of the theorem is equivalent to $\mathscr{P}^m(\omega) \subseteq \mathbf{H}\omega_m$. This implies \implies : if $x \in \mathbf{D}_{1m}$ then x is surely \in -definable in $\mathbf{H}\omega_m$.

The inverse implication takes more effort. We have to somehow *model* the \in -structure of $\mathbf{H}\omega_m$ in \mathbf{D}_{1m} . For this purpose, if $k < \omega$ and $x, y \in \mathscr{P}^k(\omega)$ then define a quasi-pair $\langle x, y \rangle^k \in \mathscr{P}^k(\omega)$ by induction as follows. If k = 0, so that $x, y \in \omega$, then put $\langle x, y \rangle^0 = 2^x \cdot 3^y \in \omega$. If $x, y \in \mathscr{P}^{k+1}(\omega)$ then put $\langle x, y \rangle^{k+1} = \{ \langle 0, x' \rangle^k : x' \in x \} \cup \{ \langle 1, y' \rangle^k : y' \in y \} \in \mathscr{P}^{k+1}(\omega)$. Note that elements $0 = \varnothing$ and $1 = \{ \varnothing \}$ belong to every type-theoretic level $\mathscr{P}^k(\omega)$. It can be easily established by induction that if $x, y, a, b \in \mathscr{P}^k(\omega)$ and $\langle x, y \rangle^k = \langle a, b \rangle^k$ then x = a and y = b.

Following [32] (25.13), we associate, with each $r \in \mathscr{P}^m(\omega)$, a binary relation E_r defined so that:

$$x \in \mathbb{F}_r y$$
 iff $x, y \in M = \mathscr{P}^{m-1}(\omega)$ and $\langle x, y \rangle^{m-1} \in r$.

on the set $M = \mathscr{P}^{m-1}(\omega)$. Let WFE₀ contain all sets $r \in \mathscr{P}^m(\omega)$ such that E_r is an extensional well-founded relation on $|r| = \{0\} \cup \{x \in M : \exists y \in M (x \in E_r \ y \lor y \in F_r \ x)\}$, with the additional property that 0 is the only *top element* of |r|, that is, $0 \in F_r x$ holds for no $x \in |r|$. If $r \in WFE_0$ then let π_r be the unique 1-1 map defined on |r| and satisfying $\pi_r(x) = \{\pi_r(y) : y \in F_r x\}$ for all $x \in |r|$ — the *transitive collapse*. We put $F(r) = \pi_r(0)$.

Under our assumptions, *F* is a map from WFE₀ onto $H\omega_m$, \in -definable in $H\omega_m$.

One easily proves that WFE₀ belongs to D_{mm} , that is, it is type-theoretically definable with quantifiers only over order levels $\leq m$. Moreover the binary relations EQ, IN defined on WFE₀ by:

$$r \in \mathbb{Q} q$$
 iff $F(r) = F(q)$, and $r \in \mathbb{N} q$ iff $F(r) \in F(q)$,

belong to \mathbf{D}_{mm} as well. Namely, let a *bisimulation for* $r, q \in WFE_0$ be any binary relation $B \subseteq |r| \times |q|$ satisfying 0 B 0 and, for all $x \in |r|$ and $y \in |q|$,

$$x \mathrel{\mathsf{B}} y \quad \text{iff} \quad \forall \, x' \, \exists \, y' \, (x' \mathrel{\mathsf{E}}_r \, x \Longrightarrow y' \mathrel{\mathsf{E}}_q \, y \land x' \mathrel{\mathsf{B}} y') \ \land \ \forall \, y' \, \exists \, x' \, (y' \mathrel{\mathsf{E}}_q \, y \Longrightarrow x' \mathrel{\mathsf{E}}_r \, x \land x' \mathrel{\mathsf{B}} y') \,.$$

Then, on the one hand, F(r) = F(q) iff there exists a bisimulation for r, q iff there exists $b \in \mathscr{P}^m(\omega)$ such that E_b is a bisimulation for r, q. On the other hand, we can express the property " E_b is a bisimulation for r, q" by a type-theoretic formula with quantifiers only over orders $\leq m$, by suitably replacing pairs $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ with quasipairs $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle^{m-1}$.

To treat IN, we have to only change 0 B 0 above to $\exists y_0 \in |q| (0 B y_0 \land y_0 E_q 0)$.

Finally if $n < \omega$ then let $r_n = \{\langle i, j \rangle^{m-1} : 1 \le i < j \le n\} \cup \{\langle i, 0 \rangle^{m-1} : 1 \le i \le n\}$, so that $r_n \in WFE_0$ and $F(r_n) = n$.

And now let $x = \{n < \omega : \mathbf{H}\omega_m \models \varphi(n)\} \subseteq \omega$ be \in -definable in $\mathbf{H}\omega_m$ by a parameter free formula $\varphi(\cdot)$. Then we have $x = \{n < \omega : \Phi(r_n)\}$, where Φ is obtained from φ by substitution of EQ for = and IN for \in and relativization of all quantifiers to WFE₀. This proves $x \in \mathbf{D}_{1m}$. \Box

2.4. Reduction to the Powerset Definability

Let \preccurlyeq be the wellordering of **Ord** \times **Ord** defined so that $\langle \xi, \eta \rangle \preccurlyeq \langle \xi', \eta' \rangle$ iff:

$$\langle \max\{\xi,\eta\},\xi,\eta
angle\leqslant_{ t lex}\langle \max\{\xi',\eta'\},\xi',\eta'
angle$$

lexicographically. Let \mathbb{p} : **Ord** × **Ord** $\xrightarrow{\text{onto}}$ **Ord** be the order preserving map: $\langle \xi, \eta \rangle \preccurlyeq \langle \xi', \eta' \rangle$ iff $\mathbb{p}(\xi, \eta) \leq \mathbb{p}(\xi', \eta')$ —the canonical pairing function. Let \mathbb{p}_1 and \mathbb{p}_2 be the inverse functions, so that $\alpha = \mathbb{p}(\mathbb{p}_1(\alpha), \mathbb{p}_2(\alpha))$ for all α .

Lemma 3 (routine). If Ω is an infinite cardinal and $\kappa = \Omega^+$, then \mathbb{P} maps $\Omega \times \Omega$ onto Ω bijectively, and the restriction $\mathbb{P} \upharpoonright (\Omega \times \Omega)$ is constructible and $\Delta_1^{\mathbf{H}\kappa}$.

Now we prove another reduction-type definability theorem.

Theorem 4. If Ω is a regular cardinal, $\varkappa = \Omega^+$, $X, Y \subseteq \omega$, and X is \in -definable in $H \varkappa$ with Y as the only parameter, then X is \in -definable in the structure $\langle \mathscr{P}(\Omega); \in, \mathbb{p} \rangle$ with Y as the only parameter.

Proof (sketch). If $x \subseteq \Omega$ then let $E'_x = \{\langle \xi, \eta \rangle : \xi, \eta < \Omega \land p(\xi, \eta) \in x\}$ be a binary relation on its domain $|x| = \text{dom } E'_x \cup \text{ran } E'_x$. Following the proof of Theorem 3, let WFE'_0 contain all sets $x \subseteq \Omega$ such that E'_x is an extensional well-founded relation on |x|, with the additional property that $0 \in |x|$ and 0 is the only *top element* of |x|, that is, $0 E'_x \xi$ holds for no $\xi \in |x|$. If $x \in \text{WFE}'_0$ then let φ_x be the unique 1-1 map defined on |x| and satisfying $\varphi_x(\xi) = \{\varphi_x(\eta) : \eta E'_x \xi\}$ for all $\xi \in |x|$ —the *transitive collapse*. We put $F'(x) = \varphi_x(0)$; F' is a map from WFE'_0 onto \mathbf{H}_x , ϵ -definable in \mathbf{H}_x .

Both WFE'₀ and the binary relations EQ', IN' defined on WFE'₀ by:

$$x \in \mathbb{Q}' y$$
 iff $F'(x) = F'(y)$, and $x \in \mathbb{N}' y$ iff $F'(x) \in F'(y)$,

are \in -definable in $\langle \mathscr{P}(\Omega); \in, \mathbb{p} \rangle$ by the same bisimulation argument as in the proof of Theorem 3. Finally if $n < \omega$ then let $x_n = \{\mathbb{p}(i, j) : 1 \le i < j \le n\} \cup \{\mathbb{p}(i, 0) : 1 \le i \le n\}$, so that $x_n \in WFE'_0$ and $F'(x_n) = n$.

Now let $X = \{n < \omega : \mathbf{H}\varkappa \models \Phi(n, Y)\} \subseteq \omega$ be \in -definable in $\mathbf{H}\varkappa$ by a formula $\varphi(\cdot, Y)$. Then we have $X = \{n < \omega : \Phi'(x_n)\}$, where Φ' is obtained from Φ by the substitution of EQ' for = and IN' for \in and relativization of all quantifiers to WFE₀'. This proves the theorem. \Box

2.5. A Useful Result in Forcing Theory

We remind that, by [32] (Chapter 15), if \varkappa is an infinite ordinal, then a forcing notion $P = \langle P; \leq \rangle$:

- Is *κ*-closed, if any ≤-decreasing sequence {*p_α*}_{*α<λ*} in *P*, of length *λ* ≤ *κ*, has a lower bound in *P*;
- Is *≈*-distributive, if the intersection of *≈*-many open dense sets is open dense, and a set *D* ⊆ *P* is *open*, iff *q* ≤ *p* ∈ *D* ⇒ *q* ∈ *D*, and *dense*, iff for any *p* ∈ *P* there is *q* ∈ *D*, *q* ≤ *p*.
- Satisfies \varkappa -chain condition, or \varkappa -CC, if every antichain $A \subseteq P$ has cardinality strictly less than \varkappa .

We will make use of the following general result in forcing theory.

Lemma 4. Assume that, in \mathbf{L} , $\vartheta < \Omega = \vartheta^+$ are regular infinite cardinals, and $Q, P \in \mathbf{L}$ are forcing notions, Q satisfies Ω -CC in \mathbf{L} , and P is ϑ -closed in \mathbf{L} . Assume that $\langle F, G \rangle$ is a pair $(Q \times P)$ -generic over \mathbf{L} . Then,

- (i) *P* remains ϑ -distributive in $\mathbf{L}[F]$,
- (ii) Ω is still a cardinal in $\mathbf{L}[F, G]$,
- (iii) Every set $X \in \mathbf{L}[F, G]$, $X \subseteq \Omega$, bounded in Ω , belongs to $\mathbf{L}[F]$.

Proof. (i) Consider any sequence $\{D_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \vartheta}$ in $\mathbf{L}[F]$ of open dense sets $D_{\alpha} \subseteq P$. Prove that their intersection is dense. Let $\hat{p} \in P$. Then $D = \{\langle \alpha, p \rangle : \alpha < \vartheta \land p \in D_{\alpha}\}$ belongs to $\mathbf{L}[F]$. Therefore there is a name $t \in \mathbf{L}, t \subseteq Q \times (\vartheta \times P)$, satisfying D = t[F]. Then $D_{\alpha} = t_{\alpha}[F]$ for all α , where $t_{\alpha} = \{\langle q, p \rangle : \langle q, \langle \alpha, p \rangle \rangle \in t\}$. There exists a condition $q_0 \in F$ which *Q*-forces

(A) " $t_{\alpha}[\underline{F}]$ is open dense in P"

over **L** for every $\alpha < \vartheta$. We can w.l.o.g. assume that 1_Q forces (A), otherwise replace Q by $Q' = \{q \in Q : q \leq q_0\}$. Under this assumption, we have the following:

(B) If $\alpha < \vartheta$, $p \in P$, and $q \in Q$ then there exist $q' \in Q$ and $p' \in P$ such that $q' \leq q$, $p' \leq p$, and q'*Q*-forces $p' \in t_{\alpha}[\underline{F}]$ over **L**.

Now we prove a stronger fact:

(C) If $\gamma < \vartheta$ and $p \in P$, then there is $p' \in P$, $p' \leq p$, such that 1_O forces $p' \in t_{\gamma}[\underline{F}]$ over L.

Indeed, arguing in L, and using (B) and the assumption that *P* is ϑ -closed, we can define a decreasing sequence $\{p_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \eta}$ of conditions in *P*, where $\eta < \Omega$, and a sequence $\{q_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \eta}$ of conditions in *Q*, such that $q_0 = q$, q_{α} is incompatible with q_{β} whenever $\alpha \neq \beta$, and each q_{α} *Q*-forces $p_{\alpha+1} \in t_{\gamma}[\underline{F}]$. Note that the construction really has to stop at some $\eta < \Omega$ otherwise we have an antichain in *Q* of cardinality Ω . Thus $A = \{q_{\alpha} : \alpha < \eta\}$ is a maximal antichain, and on the other hand, as *P* is ϑ -closed and $\eta < \Omega = \vartheta^+$, there is a condition $p \in P$ satisfying $p \leq p_{\alpha}$ for all $\alpha < \eta$. Then every $q \in A$ *Q*-forces $p \in t_{\gamma}[\underline{F}]$ by construction, therefore, as *A* is a maximal antichain, *q* witnesses (C).

To accomplish the proof of (i), we define, using (C), a decreasing sequence $\{p_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma < \vartheta} \in \mathbf{L}$ of conditions in P, such that $p_0 \leq \hat{p}$ and, for any $\gamma < \vartheta$, 1_Q forces $p_{\gamma+1} \in t_{\gamma}[\underline{F}]$ over \mathbf{L} . Once again, there is a condition $p \in P$, $p \leq p_{\gamma}$ for all γ . Then 1_Q forces $p \in t_{\gamma}[\underline{F}]$ for all γ , hence $p \in \bigcap_{\gamma} D_{\gamma}$, as required.

Finally, as *Q* is Ω -CC in **L**, Ω remains a cardinal in **L**[*F*]. Then, as *P* is ϑ -distributive in **L**[*F*], we obtain (ii) and (iii) by standard arguments. \Box

2.6. Definable Names

Let $Q \in \mathbf{L}$ be any forcing notion. It is well known (see, e.g., Lemma 2.5 in Chapter B.4 of [31]) that if $F \subseteq Q$ is a *Q*-generic filter over \mathbf{L} , $X \in \mathbf{L}$, and $Y \in \mathbf{L}[F]$, $Y \subseteq X$, then there is a set $t \in \mathbf{L}$, $t \subseteq Q \times X$, such that:

$$Y = t[Q] := \{ x \in X : \exists q \in F(\langle q, x \rangle \in t) \};$$

such a *t* is called a *Q*-name (for *Y*), whereas t[G] is the *G*-valuation, or *G*-interpretation of *t*. There is a more comprehensive system of names and valuations, which involves all sets *Y* in generic extensions, not only those included in the groung model, see e.g., Chapter IV in [35], but it will not be used in this paper. The next theorem claims that in certain cases such a name *t* as above can be chosen of nearly the same definability level as the set *Y* itself.

Theorem 5. Assume that $Q \in \mathbf{L}$ is any forcing, $F \subseteq Q$ is *Q*-generic over \mathbf{L} , $\varkappa > \omega$ is a cardinal in $\mathbf{L}[F]$ (hence, in \mathbf{L} , too), $n \ge 1$, $H = (\mathbf{H}\varkappa)^{\mathbf{L}}$, $H[F] = (\mathbf{H}\varkappa)^{\mathbf{L}[F]}$, and $Y \in \mathbf{L}[F]$, $Y \subseteq H$. Then,

- (i) If Y belongs to Σ_n^H (hence to L), then Y also belongs to $\Sigma_n^{H[F]}$;
- (ii) If $Q \in H$ and Y belongs to $\Sigma_n(H[F])$ (meaning Σ_n in H[F] with arbitrary definability parameters in H[F] allowed) then there exists a $\Sigma_n(H)$ name $t \in \mathbf{L}$, $t \subseteq Q \times H$, such that Y = t[F].

Proof. To prove (i) note that $H = H[F] \cap \mathbf{L}$. But the formula "*x* is contructible" is Σ_1 [31] (Part B, 5.4). It follows that *H* is $\Sigma_1^{H[F]}$. Now the result is clear: We formally relativize, to the $\Sigma_1^{H[F]}$ set *H*, all quantifiers in the Σ_n definition of *Y* in *H*, getting a Σ_n definition of *Y* in H[F].

To prove (ii), assume that $Q \in H$. We utilize a more complex system of representation of sets in **L**[*F*], affecting all these sets, not just subsets of sets in **L**. We take it from [36]. Inductively on the \in -rank rk (*a*), each set *a* is mapped to the set $K(a) = \{K(b) : \exists q \in F(\langle q, b \rangle \in a)\}$ (depends on *F*!). The next lemma continues the proof of Theorem 5.

Lemma 5.
$$H[F] = \{K(a) : a \in H\}.$$

Proof. From right to left, an elementary induction argument works. Prove it from left to right. Induction by the \in -rank rk (x), for each $x \in H[F]$ we define a set $a_x \in H$ such that $x = K(a_x)$. If $x = \emptyset$, then $a_x = \emptyset$ will do. Assume that rk (x) > 0 and a_y is already defined for each $y \in x$. The set $A = \{a_y : y \in x\} \in L[F]$, $A \subseteq H$ has cardinality $< \varkappa$ in L[F]. Moreover, there is a set $B \in L$, $B \subseteq H$, of cardinality $\leq \varkappa$ in L, such that $A \subseteq B$. (Indeed, $H \in L$ has cardinality \varkappa in L. Let $\{t_\alpha\}_{\alpha < \varkappa}$ be a constructible enumeration of elements of H. As card $A < \varkappa$ strictly, there is $\gamma < \varkappa$ such that $A \subseteq B = \{t_\alpha : \alpha < \gamma\}$. The set B is as required.)

According to the above, we have $A = \tau[F]$ for some $\tau \in L$, $\tau \subseteq Q \times B$. Then $\tau \in H$. On the other hand, it is easy to check that $x = \{K(b) : b \in A\} = K(\tau)$, that is, you can take $a_x = \tau$. This ends the proof of the lemma. \Box

In continuation of the proof of Theorem 5(ii), we introduce, following [36], the forcing relation $q \Vdash \varphi$ (where $q \in Q$) by induction on the logical complexity of the formula φ (a closed formula with parameters in *H*); it corresponds to *H*[*F*] as a *Q*-generic extension of *H*. Below \leq is the partial order on *Q*, and $q \leq q'$ means that *q* is a stronger condition.

(I) $q \Vdash a \in b$ iff $\exists \langle q', c \rangle \in b \ (q \leq q' \land q \Vdash a = c);$ (II) $q \Vdash a \neq b$ iff $\exists \langle q', c \rangle \in b \ (q \leq q' \land q \Vdash c \notin a)$ or $\exists \langle q', c \rangle \in a \ (q \leq q' \land q \Vdash c \notin b);$ (III) $q \Vdash \neg \varphi$ iff $\neg \exists q' \ (q' \leq q \land q' \Vdash \varphi);$ (IV) $q \Vdash \varphi \lor \psi$ iff $q \Vdash \varphi$ or $q \Vdash \psi;$ (V) $q \Vdash \exists x \in b \ \varphi(x)$ iff $\exists \langle q', c \rangle \in b \ (q \leq q' \land q \Vdash \varphi(c));$ (VI) $q \Vdash \exists x \ \varphi(x)$ iff $\exists c \in H \ (q \Vdash \varphi(c)).$

This definition assumes that some logical connectives are expressed in a certain way via other connectives. For each parameter free formula $\varphi(x_1, ..., x_k)$, define a set:

$$F_{\varphi} = \{(q, a_1, \ldots, a_k) : a_1, \ldots, a_k \in H \land q \in Q \land q \Vdash \varphi(a_1, \ldots, a_k)\}.$$

Lemma 6. If k > 1 and φ is a Σ_k formula, then F_{φ} is $\Sigma_k^H(\{Q\})$ (Q is allowed as a sole parameter).

Proof. All quantifiers of definitions (I)–(V) are bounded either by the set $Q \in H$, or by a set of the form $Q \times a$, where still $a \in H$. Therefore it is not difficult to show that $F_{\varphi} \in \Sigma_1^H$ for any bounded formula φ . (The sole unbounded quantifier will express the existence of a full description of all subformulas of the form $a \in b$, a = b, that appear in accordance with (I)–(III).) Induction on k proves the result. \Box

The next lemma is similar to the Truth Lemma as in [36], so the proof is omitted.

Lemma 7. Let Φ be a closed formula with parameters in H, and Φ' obtained from Φ so that each $a \in H$ is replaced by K(a). Then Φ' is true in H[F] iff there exists $q \in F$ such that $q \Vdash \Phi$.

Let us finish the proof of Theorem 5(ii). Let $Y \in \Sigma_n(H[F])$, $Y \subseteq H$. There is a parameter free Σ_n formula $\varphi(\cdot, \cdot)$, and a parameter $y \in H[F]$, such that $X = \{x \in H : \varphi(x, y) \text{ holds in } H[F]\}$. For each $x \in H$, we define the set $\check{x} \in H$ by induction, so that $\check{\varnothing} = \emptyset$, and if $x \neq \emptyset$ then $\check{x} = \{\langle q, \check{z} \rangle : q \in Q \land z \in x\}$. Then $K(\check{x}) = x$ for all x. It follows by Lemma 7 that:

$$X = \{x \in H : \exists q \in F(q \Vdash \varphi(\check{x}, b))\} = t[F],$$

where $b \in H$ is such that y = K(b) (exists by Lemma 5), whereas:

$$t = \{ \langle q, x \rangle : q \in Q \land x \in H \land q \Vdash \varphi(\check{x}, b) \}.$$

Finally, note that the function $x \mapsto \check{x}$ belongs to $\Delta_1^H(\{Q\})$. We conclude that $t \in \Sigma_n(H)$ by Lemma 6, as required. This completes the proof of Theorem 5. \Box

2.7. Collapse Forcing

We conclude from Lemma 2 that the construction of any generic extension of \mathbf{L} , in which $\mathbf{D}_{1n} \in \mathbf{D}_{2n}$ holds for some $n \ge 1$, has to involve a collapse of $\omega_1^{\mathbf{L}}$ down to ω , explicitly or implicitly. To set up such a collapse in a technically convenient form, we let $\Xi = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$ be the set of all constructible sets $x \subseteq \omega$, and let $\mathbb{C} = \Xi^{<\omega}$. Thus $\mathbb{C} \in \mathbf{L}$ is the ordinary Cohen-style collapse forcing that makes Ξ (and $\omega_1^{\mathbf{L}}$ as well) countable in \mathbb{C} -generic extensions. The choice of Ξ as the collapse domain, instead of $\omega_1^{\mathbf{L}}$, is made by technical reasons that will be clear below. Note that \mathbb{C} adjoins generic maps $\zeta : \omega \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \Xi$ to \mathbf{L} . A map $\zeta \in \Xi^{\omega}$ is \mathbb{C} -generic over \mathbf{L} iff the set $G_{\zeta} = \{e \in \mathbb{C} : e \subset \zeta\}$ is \mathbb{C} -generic in the usual sense.

Lemma 8 (Routine). If $\zeta \in \Xi^{\omega}$ is \mathbb{C} -generic over \mathbf{L} then $\omega_{\xi}^{\mathbf{L}[\zeta]} = \omega_{\xi+1}^{\mathbf{L}}$ for all $\xi \in \mathbf{Ord}$.

The representation result, as in the beginning of Section 2.6, takes the following form: If $\zeta \in \Xi^{\omega}$ is \mathbb{C} -generic over \mathbf{L} , $X \in \mathbf{L}$, and $Y \in \mathbf{L}[\zeta]$, $Y \subseteq X$, then there is a set $t \in \mathbf{L}$, $t \subseteq \mathbb{C} \times X$, such that:

$$Y = t[\boldsymbol{\zeta}] := \{ x \in X : \exists e \in G_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}} (\langle e, x \rangle \in t) \};$$

such a *t* is called a \mathbb{C} *-name* (for *Y*).

Theorem 5 is applicable for $Q = \mathbb{C}$ and any L-cardinal $\varkappa \ge \omega_2^L$, whereas if $\xi \in \mathbf{Ord}$, $\xi \ge 1$, then Lemma 4 is applicable for $Q = \mathbb{C}$, $\vartheta = \omega_{\xi}^L$, $\Omega = \omega_{\xi+1}^L$, and any forcing $P \in \mathbf{L}$, ϑ -complete in \mathbf{L} .

3. Almost Disjoint Forcing, Uncountable Version

Here we introduce the main coding tool used in the proof of Theorem 2, an uncountable version of almost disjoint forcing of Jensen–Solovay [23].

3.1. Introduction to almost Disjoint Forcing

Definition 2. Fix an uncountable successor L-cardinal $\Omega = \omega_{\mu+1}^{\mathbf{L}}$. The value of Ω will be specified in Section 4.5 with respect to the integer \mathbb{M} of Theorem 2, namely, $\Omega = \omega_{\mathbb{M}}^{\mathbf{L}}$, but until then we will view Ω as an arbitrary successor L-cardinal.

We put $\mathbb{\Omega}^{\ominus} = \omega_{\mu}^{\mathbf{L}}$ and $\mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus} = \omega_{\mu+2}^{\mathbf{L}}$. Here $^{\oplus}$, resp., $^{\ominus}$ mean the next, resp., previous **L**-cardinal, which may not be true cardinals in generic extensions of **L**.

We finally put:

$$\mathbb{H} = (\mathbf{H}\mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus})^{\mathbf{L}} = \{ x \in \mathbf{L} : \operatorname{card} (\operatorname{TC} (x)) < \mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus} \text{ in } \mathbf{L} \}.$$
(5)

Moreover if L[G] is a generic extension of L then we define:

$$\mathbb{H}[G] = (\mathbf{H}\mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus})^{\mathbf{L}[G]} = \{ x \in \mathbf{L}[G] : \operatorname{card}\left(\operatorname{TC}\left(x\right)\right) < \mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus} \text{ in } \mathbf{L}[G] \}.$$
(6)

provided Ω^{\oplus} remains a cardinal in $\mathbf{L}[G]$.

- Let Seq_Ω = (Ω^{<Ω} \ {Λ}) ∩ L, the set of all constructible non-empty sequences *s* of ordinals < Ω, of length lh *s* = dom *s* < Ω, called *strings*. We underline that Seq_Ω ∈ L, and Λ, the empty string, does not belong to Seq_Ω;
- Let $\operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega} = \Omega^{\Omega} \cap L$ = all constructible Ω -sequences of ordinals $< \Omega$; $\operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega} \in L$;
- If $X \subseteq \mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega}$ then put $X^{\vee} = \{f \upharpoonright \xi : f \in F_p \land 1 \le \xi < \Omega\}$, a tree in \mathbf{Seq}_{Ω} , without terminal nodes;
- A set $X \subseteq \operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega}$ is *dense* iff $X^{\vee} = \operatorname{Seq}_{\Omega}$, *i.e.* for any $s \in \operatorname{Seq}_{\Omega}$ there is $f \in X$ such that $s \subset f$;
- If $S \subseteq \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega}$, $f \in \mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega}$ then let $S/f = \sup\{\xi < \Omega : f \mid \xi \in S\}$. If S/f is unbounded in Ω then say that *S* covers *f*, otherwise *S* does not cover *f*.

Definition 3 (in L). ${}^{*}P_{\Omega}$ is the set of all pairs $p = \langle S_p; F_p \rangle \in \mathbf{L}$ of sets $F_p \subseteq \mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega}$, $S_p \subseteq \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega}$ of cardinality strictly less than Ω in L. Elements of ${}^{*}P_{\Omega}$ will be called (forcing) conditions.

If $p,q \in {}^*\!P_{\Omega}$ then $p \wedge q = \langle S_p \cup S_q; F_p \cup F_q \rangle$; a condition in ${}^*\!P_{\Omega}$.

Let $p,q \in {}^*P_{\mathbb{O}}$. Define $q \leq p$ (q is stronger as a forcing condition) iff $S_p \subseteq S_q$, $F_p \subseteq F_q$, and the difference $S_q \setminus S_p$ does not intersect F_p^{\vee} , that is, $S_q \cap F_p^{\vee} = S_p \cap F_p^{\vee}$. Here $F_p^{\vee} = (F_p)^{\vee}$.

Lemma 9 (in L). The sets $\operatorname{Seq}_{\Omega}$, $\operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega}$, ${}^{*}\!P_{\Omega}$ belong to L and $\operatorname{card}(\operatorname{Seq}_{\Omega}) = \Omega$ while $\operatorname{card}(\operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega}) = \operatorname{card}{}^{*}\!P_{\Omega} = \Omega^{\oplus}$ in L.

Clearly $q \leq p$ iff $S_p \subseteq S_q$, $F_p \subseteq F_q$, and $S_q \cap F_p^{\vee} = S_p \cap F_p^{\vee}$.

Lemma 10 (in L). Conditions $p, q \in {}^*P_{\Omega}$ are compatible in ${}^*P_{\Omega}$ iff 1) $S_q \smallsetminus S_p$ does not intersect F_p^{\lor} , and 2) $S_p \smallsetminus S_q$ does not intersect F_q^{\lor} . Therefore any $p, q \in P^*$ are compatible in P^* iff $p \land q \leq p$ and $p \land q \leq q$.

Proof. If (1), (2) hold then $p \land q \leq p$ and $p \land q \leq q$, thus p, q are compatible. \Box

If $u \subseteq \operatorname{Fun}_{\mathbb{D}}$ then put $P[u] = \{ p \in {}^{*}\!P_{\mathbb{D}} : F_p \subseteq u \}$. Thus if $u \in L$ then $P[u] \in L$.

Any conditions $p, q \in P[u]$ are compatible in P[u] iff they are compatible in $*P_{\Omega}$ iff $p \wedge q = \langle S_p \cup S_q; F_p \cup F_q \rangle \in P[u]$ satisfies both $(p \wedge q) \leq p$ and $(p \wedge q) \leq q$. Thus we say that conditions $p, q \in *P_{\Omega}$ are compatible (or incompatible) without an indication which set P[u] containing p, q is considered.

Lemma 11 (in L). Let $\emptyset \neq u \subseteq \operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega}$. Then it is true in L that $\operatorname{card} P[u] \leq \Omega^{\oplus}$, and the forcing notion P[u] satisfies Ω^{\oplus} -CC, and is Ω^{\ominus} -closed, hence Ω^{\ominus} -distributive. Moreover P[u] satisfies Ω^{\oplus} -CC in any generic extension L[H] of L, in which Ω^{\oplus} remains a cardinal.

Proof. The closed/distributive claim is obvious on the base of the cardinality restrictions in Definition 3. To prove the Ω^{\oplus} -CC claim, argue in $\mathbf{L}[H]$. If $p \neq q$ belong to an antichain $A \subseteq P[u]$ then $S_p \neq S_q$ by Lemma 10. Let $M = \{S_p : p \in {}^*\!P_{\Omega}\} =$ all subsets $S \subseteq \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega}$, $S \in \mathbf{L}$, with card $S < \Omega$ in \mathbf{L} . Then M is a set of cardinality Ω in \mathbf{L} , hence in $\mathbf{L}[H]$ as well. \Box

If $u \subseteq \operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega}$ in L, and $G \subseteq P[u]$ is a P[u]-generic set, then put $S_G = \bigcup_{p \in G} S_p$; thus $S_G \subseteq \operatorname{Seq}_{\Omega}$. The next lemma witnesses that forcing notions of the form P[u] belong to the type of *almost disjoint* (AD, for brevity) forcing, invented in [23] (§ 5).

Lemma 12. Suppose that, in \mathbf{L} , $u \subseteq \mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega}$ is dense. Let $G \subseteq P[u]$ be a set P[u]-generic over \mathbf{L} . Then:

- (i) If $f \in \mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega}$ in \mathbf{L} then $f \in u \iff S_G$ does not cover f;
- (ii) $G = \{ p \in P[u] : S_p \subseteq S_G \land (S_G \smallsetminus S_p) \cap F_p^{\lor} = \emptyset \}$, hence $\mathbf{L}[G] = \mathbf{L}[S_G]$.

Proof. (i) Let $f \in u$. The set $D_f = \{p \in P[u] : f \in F_p\}$ is dense in P[u]. (Let $q \in P[u]$. Define $p \in P[u]$ so that $S_p = S_q$ and $F_p = F_q \cup \{f\}$. Then $p \in D_f$ and $p \leq q$.) Therefore $D_f \cap G \neq \emptyset$. Pick any $p \in D_f \cap G$. Then $f \in F_p$. Now every $r \in G$ is compatible with p, and hence $S_r/f \subseteq S_p/f$ by Lemma 10. Thus $S_G/f = S_p/f$ is bounded in Ω . Let $f \notin u$. If $\xi < \Omega$ then the set $D_{f\xi} = \{p \in P[u] : \sup(S_p/f) > \xi\}$ is dense in P[u]. (If $q \in P[u]$ then card $(F_q^{\vee}) < \Omega$. As $f \notin u$, there is $\eta > \xi$, $\eta < \Omega$, with $f \upharpoonright \eta \notin F_q^{\vee}$. Define p so that $F_p = F_q$ and $S_p = S_q \cup \{f \upharpoonright \eta\}$. Then $p \in D_{f\xi}$ and $p \leq q$.) Let $p \in D_{f\xi} \cap G$. Then $\sup(S_G/f) > \xi$. As $\xi < \Omega$ is arbitrary, S_G/f is unbounded.

(ii) Consider any $p \in P[u]$. Suppose $p \in G$. Then $S_p \subseteq S_G$. If there exists $s \in (S_G \setminus S_p) \cap F_p^{\vee}$ then by definition we have $s \in S_q$ for some $q \in G$. However, then p, q are incompatible by Lemma 10, a contradiction. Now suppose $p \notin G$. Then there exists $q \in G$ incompatible with p. By Lemma 10, there are two cases. First, there exists $s \in (S_q \setminus S_p) \cap F_p^{\vee}$. Then $s \in S_G \setminus S_p$, so p is not compatible with S_G . Second, there exists $s \in (S_p \setminus S_q) \cap F_q^{\vee}$. Then any condition $r \leq q$ satisfies $s \notin S_r$. Therefore $s \notin S_G$, so $S_p \notin S_G$, and p is not compatible with S_G . \Box

3.2. Product Almost Disjoint Forcing

Arguing under the assumptions and notation of Definition 2, we consider $\mathcal{I} = \omega \times \omega$, the cartesian product, as the index set for a product forcing.

Definition 4 (in L). ***P**^{Ω} (note the boldface upright form) is the L-product of \mathcal{I} copies of ***P**^{Ω} (Definition 3 in Section 3.1), ordered componentwise: $p \leq q$ (p is stronger) iff $p(n,i) \leq q(n,i)$ in ***P**^{Ω} for all $n, i < \omega$.

That is, $*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega} \in \mathbf{L}$ and $*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ consists of all maps $p \in \mathbf{L}$, $p: \mathcal{I} \to *\mathcal{P}_{\Omega}$. If $p \in *\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ then put $\mathbf{F}_{p}(n,i) = F_{p(n,i)}$ and $\mathbf{S}_{p}(n,i) = S_{p(n,i)}$ for all $n, i < \omega$, so that $p(n,i) = \langle \mathbf{S}_{p}(n,i); \mathbf{F}_{p}(n,i) \rangle$, where $\mathbf{S}_{p}: \mathcal{I} \to \mathscr{P}_{<\Omega}(\mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega})$ and $\mathbf{F}_{p}: \mathcal{I} \to \mathscr{P}_{<\Omega}(\mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega})$ are arbitrary, and $\mathscr{P}_{<\Omega}$ means all subsets of cardinality $<\Omega$ strictly.

- Note that, unlike product almost-disjoint forcing notions developed in [4,5], *P_Ω is not a finite-support product;
- If $p \in {}^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ then we define $|p| = \{ \langle n, i \rangle : p(n, i) \neq \langle \emptyset, \emptyset \rangle \}$ and

$$\mathbf{F}_p^{\vee}(n,i) = F_{p(n,i)}^{\vee} = \{f \upharpoonright \xi : f \in \mathbf{F}_p(n,i) \land 1 \le \xi < \Omega\};$$

• If $p, q \in *\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ then define $p \land q \in *\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ by $(p \land q)(n, i) = p(n, i) \land q(n, i)$, in the sense of Definition 3 in Section 3.1, for all $n, i < \omega$.

Lemma 13. Conditions $p, q \in {}^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ are compatible in ${}^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ iff $(p \land q) \leq p$ and $(p \land q) \leq q$.

Let an Ω -system be any map $U \in \mathbf{L}$, $U : \mathcal{I} \to \mathscr{P}(\mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega})$ such that each set U(n, i) is empty or dense in \mathbf{Fun}_{Ω} . In this case, let $|U| = \{ \langle n, i \rangle : U(n, i) \neq \emptyset \}$.

• If *U* is an Ω -system then $\mathbf{P}[U] = \{ p \in {}^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega} : \forall \langle n, i \rangle \in |p| (\mathbf{F}_p(n, i) \subseteq U(n, i)) \}$ is the L-product of the sets $P[U(n, i)], n, i < \omega$.

Lemma 14 (in **L**). Let U be an Ω -system. Then it is true in **L** that card $\mathbf{P}[U] = \Omega^{\oplus}$, and the forcing notion $\mathbf{P}[U]$ is Ω^{\ominus} -closed, hence Ω^{\ominus} -distributive, and satisfies Ω^{\oplus} -CC, and the product $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbf{P}[U]$ satisfies Ω^{\oplus} -CC as well. Moreover $\mathbf{P}[U]$ satisfies Ω^{\oplus} -CC in any generic extension of **L** in which Ω^{\oplus} remains a cardinal.

Proof. The closed/distributive claims follow from Lemma 11. To prove the antichain claim we observe that if $p, q \in {}^{*}\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ satisfy $\mathbf{S}_{p} = \mathbf{S}_{q}$ then p, q are compatible. However the set $\Delta_{\mathbf{S}} = {\mathbf{S}_{p} : p \in {}^{*}\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}}$ has cardinality $\leq \Omega < \Omega^{\oplus}$ in \mathbf{L} as it consists of all functions $\mathbf{S}_{p} : \mathcal{I} \to \mathscr{P}_{<\Omega}(\mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega})$. To extend the result to the product $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbf{P}[U]$, note that card $\mathbb{C} = \omega_{1}^{\mathbf{L}} \leq \Omega$. \Box

Definition 5. Suppose that $z \subseteq \mathcal{I}$. If $p \in *\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ then define $p' = p \upharpoonright z$ to be the usual restriction, so that $\operatorname{dom}(p \upharpoonright z) = z$ and p'(n,i) = p(n,i) for all $\langle n,i \rangle \in z$. A special case: If $n, i < \omega$ then let $p \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n,i \rangle} = p \upharpoonright z$, where $z = (\mathcal{I} \setminus \{\langle n,i \rangle\})$. If U is an Ω -system then define $U \upharpoonright z$ to be the ordinary restriction as well. Furthermore, if $m < \omega$ then define:

$$p \upharpoonright^{
$$p \upharpoonright^{\geq m} = p \upharpoonright z \quad and \quad U \upharpoonright^{\geq m} = U \upharpoonright z, \quad where \quad z = \{k : k \ge m\} \times \omega,$$
$$p \upharpoonright^{m} = p \upharpoonright z \quad and \quad U \upharpoonright^{m} = U \upharpoonright z, \quad where \quad z = \{m\} \times \omega.$$$$

Finally, if $Q \subseteq *\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ then let $Q \upharpoonright z = \{p \upharpoonright z : p \in Q\}$; $Q \upharpoonright z \subseteq *\mathbf{P}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$. This will be applied, e.g., in case $Q = \mathbf{P}[U]$, where $U \in \mathbf{L}$ is a Ω -system, and then we get $\mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright z = \{p \upharpoonright z : p \in \mathbf{P}[U]\}$, $\mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n,i \rangle}$, $\mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$, etc.

Remark 3. Suppose that $z \in \mathbf{L}$ in Definition 5. If $p \in {}^{*}\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$, then $p \upharpoonright z$ can be identified with a condition $q \in {}^{*}\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ such that $q \upharpoonright z = p \upharpoonright z$ and $q(n, i) = \langle \emptyset; \emptyset \rangle$ for all $\langle n, i \rangle \in \mathcal{I} \setminus z$. For instance, this applies w.r.t. $p \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n, i \rangle}, p \upharpoonright^{\geq m}, p \upharpoonright^{< m}, p \upharpoonright^{m}$.

With such an identification, we have ${}^{*}\mathbf{P}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright z \subseteq {}^{*}\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$, and $Q \upharpoonright z \subseteq {}^{*}\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ for $Q \subseteq {}^{*}\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ (in case $z \in \mathbf{L}$).

However, if $z \notin \mathbf{L}$ then such an identification fails. This is a consequence of our deviation from the finite-support product approach taken in [4,5], which would not work in the setting of this paper.

The same applies for the restrictions $U \upharpoonright z$ *of* Ω *-systems* U*.*

3.3. Structure of Product almost Disjoint Generic Extensions

Arguing under the assumptions and notation of Definition 2, we let U be an Ω -system in L. Consider $\mathbf{P}[U]$ as a forcing notion. We will study $\mathbf{P}[U]$ -generic extensions $\mathbf{L}[G]$ of the ground universe L. Define some elements of these extensions. Suppose that $G \subseteq \mathbf{P}[U]$ is a generic set. Let,

$$\mathbf{S}_G(n,i) = S_{G(n,i)} = \bigcup_{p \in G} \mathbf{S}_p(n,i)$$
 for any $n, i < \omega$,

where $G(n,i) = \{p(n,i) : p \in G\} \subseteq P[U(n,i)]$; thus $\mathbf{S}_G(n,i) \subseteq \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega}$ and $G \subseteq \mathbf{P}[U]$ splits into the family of sets G(n,i), $n, i < \omega$. This defines a sequence $\vec{S}_G = \{\mathbf{S}_G(n,i)\}_{n,i<\omega}$ of subsets of \mathbf{Seq}_{Ω} .

If $z \subseteq \mathcal{I}$ then let $G \upharpoonright z = \{p \upharpoonright z : p \in G\}$. If $z \in L$ then $G \upharpoonright z$ can be identified with $\{p \in G : |p| \subseteq z\}$.

Put
$$G \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n,i \rangle} = \{ p \in G : \langle n,i \rangle \notin |p| \} = G \upharpoonright (\mathcal{I} \smallsetminus \{ \langle n,i \rangle \}).$$

Lemma 15. Let U be an Ω -system in L, and $G \subseteq \mathbf{P}[U]$ be a set $\mathbf{P}[U]$ -generic over L. Then:

- (i) $L[G] = L[\vec{S}_G]$;
- (ii) If $n, i < \omega$ then the set $G(n, i) = \{p(n, i) : p \in G\} \in \mathbf{L}[G]$ is P[U(n, i)]-generic over \mathbf{L} , hence if $f \in \mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega}$ then $f \in U(n, i) \iff \mathbf{S}_{G}(n, i)$ does not cover f;
- (iii) If $X \in \mathbf{L}[G]$, $X \subseteq \Omega$ is bounded, then $X \in \mathbf{L}$;
- (iv) All L-cardinals are preserved in L[G], and GCH holds in L[G].

Proof. To prove (i) apply Lemma 12(ii).

The genericity in (ii) holds by the product forcing theorem, then use Lemma 12(i).

Claim (iii) follows from the Ω^{\ominus} -closure claim of Lemma 14.

(iv) We conclude from (iii) that all L-cardinals $\leq \Omega$ remain cardinals in L[G], and GCH holds for all L-cardinals $< \Omega$ strictly. It follows from the Ω^{\oplus} -CC claim of Lemma 14 that all L-cardinals $\geq \Omega^{\oplus}$ remain cardinals in L[G], and since card $P[U] \leq \Omega^{\oplus}$ in L, GCH holds for all of them in L[G]. And finally we still have $\exp(\Omega) = \Omega^{\oplus}$ in L[G] since by (i) the model L[G] is an extension of L by adjoining a subset of Ω obtained by a suitable wrapping of \vec{S}_G . \Box

The next lemma is useful in dealing with combined $(\mathbb{C} \times \mathbf{P}[U])$ -generic extensions $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, G]$ of \mathbf{L} , where, by the product forcing theorem, $\zeta \in \Xi^{\omega}$ is \mathbb{C} -generic over \mathbf{L} and G is $\mathbf{P}[U]$ -generic over $\mathbf{L}[\zeta]$, or equivalently, G is $\mathbf{P}[U]$ -generic over \mathbf{L} and ζ is \mathbb{C} -generic over $\mathbf{L}[G]$.

Lemma 16. Let U be an Ω -system in L, and a pair $\langle \zeta, G \rangle$ is $(\mathbb{C} \times \mathbf{P}[U])$ -generic over L. Then:

- (i) All $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$ -cardinals are preserved in $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}, G]$, so that $\omega_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}, G]} = \omega_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]} = \omega_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}+1}^{\mathbf{L}}$ for all $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \geq 1$;
- (ii) GCH holds in $L[\zeta, G]$;
- (iii) If $\Omega \geq \omega_2^{\mathbf{L}}$ and $X \in \mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}, G]$, $X \subseteq \Omega$ is bounded, then $X \in \mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$;
- (iv) If $1 \le k < \omega$ and $\omega_k^{\mathbf{L}} < \Omega$, then $(\mathbf{H}\Omega)^{\mathbf{L}[\zeta,G]} = (\mathbf{H}\Omega)^{\mathbf{L}[\zeta]}$ and $\mathscr{P}^k(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}[\zeta,G] = \mathscr{P}^k(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}[\zeta]$.

Note that Claims (iii), (iv) are not applicable in case $\Omega = \omega_1^{\mathbf{L}}$.

Proof. To prove (i), (ii) recall that all L-cardinals remain cardinals in L[G], and GCH holds in L[G], by Lemma 15(iv). It remains to note that ζ is \mathbb{C} -generic over L[G] and make use of Lemma 8. To prove (iii) apply Lemma 4 with $\vartheta = \mathbb{O}^{\ominus}$, $P = \mathbf{P}[U]$, $Q = \mathbb{C}$. Note that card $\mathbb{C} = \omega_1^L \leq \mathbb{O}^{\ominus}$ in case $\mathbb{O} \geq \omega_2^L$.

Finally Claim (iv) is a routine corollary of (i)–(iii). \Box

4. The Forcing Notion and the Model

In this Section, we prove Theorem 2 on the base of another result, Theorem 8, see Remark 4 on page 23. The proof of Theorem 8 will follow in the remainder of the paper. The structure of the extension will be presented in Section 4.6, after the definition of the forcing notion involved in Section 4.5. Recall that the L-cardinals:

$$\mathbb{\Omega}^{\ominus} = \omega_{\mu}^{\mathbf{L}} \ < \ \mathbb{\Omega} = \omega_{\mu+1}^{\mathbf{L}} \ < \ \mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus} = \omega_{\mu+2}^{\mathbf{L}}$$

were introduced by Definition 2 on page 13. They remain to be fixed until Section 4.5, where their value will be specified in terms of the number $\mathbb{M} \ge 1$ we are dealing with in Theorem 2.

4.1. Systems, Definability Aspects

We argue in L under the assumptions and notation of Definition 2 on page 13. In continuation of our notation related to Ω -systems in Section 3.2, define the following.

- An Ω -system *U* is *small*, if each U(n, i) has cardinality $\leq \Omega$ in L;
- An Ω -system U is *disjoint* if $U(n,i) \cap U(k,j) = \emptyset$ whenever $\langle n,i \rangle \neq \langle k,j \rangle$;
- If U, V are Ω -systems and $U(n, i) \subseteq V(n, i)$ for all n, i, then V extends U, in symbol $U \preccurlyeq V$;
- If $\{U_{\xi}\}_{\xi < \lambda}$ is a sequence of Ω -systems then the limit Ω -system $U = \bigvee_{\xi < \lambda} U_{\xi}$ is defined by $U(n,i) = \bigcup_{\xi < \lambda} U_{\xi}(n,i)$, for all n, i.

Let DS_{Ω} (disjoint systems) be the set of all disjoint Ω -systems, and let sDS_{Ω} (*small* disjoint systems) be the set of all small disjoint Ω -systems $U \in DS_{\Omega}$.

Define $\mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} = \{ U \upharpoonright^{\geq m} : U \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \}$, and similarly $\mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{< m}$ etc. by Definition 5.

The sets \mathbf{DS}_{Ω} , \mathbf{sDS}_{Ω} , $\mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$, $\mathbf{DS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{< m}$ etc., and the order relation \preccurlyeq , **belong to L**, of course. Recall that, by (5),

$$\mathbb{H} = (\mathbf{H} \Omega^{\oplus})^{\mathbf{L}} = \{ x \in \mathbf{L} : \operatorname{card} (\operatorname{TC} (x)) \leq \Omega \text{ in } \mathbf{L} \}.$$

Lemma 17 (in **L**). *The following sets belong to* $\Delta_1^{\mathbb{H}}(\{\Omega\})$ *and to* $\Delta_3^{\mathbb{H}} : \{\Omega\}$, $\{\mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega}\}$, \mathbf{Fun}_{Ω} , $^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$, \mathbf{sDS}_{Ω} , $\mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\leq m}$, $\mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\leq m}$, the set $\{\langle U, p \rangle : U \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \land p \in \mathbf{P}[U]\}$, the relation \preccurlyeq .

Proof. All these sets have rather straightforward $\Delta_1^{\mathbb{H}}(\{\Omega\})$ definitions, with $\Omega \in \mathbb{H}$ as the only parameter. To eliminate Ω , it suffices to prove that $\{\Omega\} \in \Delta_3^{\mathbb{H}}$. Note first of all that " ϑ is a cardinal (initial ordinal)" is a Π_1 formula:

$$\vartheta \in \mathbf{Ord} \land \forall \alpha < \vartheta \forall f(f: \alpha \to \vartheta \implies \operatorname{ran} f \neq \vartheta)$$

On the other hand, Ω is the largest cardinal in \mathbb{H} , hence it holds in \mathbb{H} that:

$$\vartheta = \Omega \iff \forall \varkappa (\varkappa \text{ is a cardinal} \implies \varkappa \leq \Omega).$$

We conclude that $\{\Omega\} \in \Pi_2^{\mathbb{H}} \subseteq \Delta_3^{\mathbb{H}}$. Finally, the conversion $\Delta_1^{\mathbb{H}}(\{\Omega\}) \to \Delta_3^{\mathbb{H}}$ is routine. \Box

4.2. Complete Sequences

We prove a major theorem (Theorem 6) in this Subsection. It deals with \preccurlyeq -increasing transfinite sequences in **sDS**_{Ω}, satisfying some genericity/definability requirements. This is similar to some

constructions in [4] and especially in [5] (Theorem 3). Yet there is a principal difference. Here the notion of extension \preccurlyeq is just the componentwise set theoretic extension, unlike [4,5], and originally [23], where the extension method was designed so that increments had to be finitewise Cohen-style generic over associated transitive models of a certain fragment of **ZFC**. Here the only restriction is that extensions have to obey the disjointness condition as defined in Section 4.1. In other words, if $U \preccurlyeq V$ are Ω -systems in **sDS**_{Ω}, then, beside $U(n,i) \subseteq V(n,i)$, the increments $\Delta(n,i) = V(n,i) \setminus U(n,i)$ have to be pairwise disjoint and each $\Delta(n,i)$ to be disjoint with the union $\bigcup_{\langle k,j \rangle \neq \langle n,i \rangle} U(k,j)$.

Such a simplification is made possible here largely because the definability classes of the form D_{1m} depend only on the highest quantifier order and do not depend on the number and type of the quantifiers involved in the definition of the set considered—unlike e.g., [5], where we dealt with the definability classes Δ_n^1 , which obviously depend on the number of the quantifiers involved.

We begin with an auxiliary lemma.

Recall that, by (5), $\mathbb{H} = (\mathbf{H} \Omega^{\oplus})^{\mathbf{L}} = \{ x \in \mathbf{L} : \operatorname{card} (\operatorname{TC} (x)) \leq \Omega \text{ in } \mathbf{L} \} = \mathbf{L}_{\Omega^{\oplus}}.$

Lemma 18 (in **L**). Under the assumptions and notation of Definition 2, for any $\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}$ there exist $m_{\alpha} < \omega$, $t_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{H}$, and $U^{\alpha} \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega}$ such that the sequences $\{m_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}}$, $\{t_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}}$, $\{U^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}}$ belong to $\Delta_{3}^{\mathbb{H}}$ and, if $m < \omega$, $t \in \mathbb{H}$, and $\{U_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}}$ is a \preccurlyeq -increasing continuous sequence of Ω -systems in \mathbf{sDS}_{Ω} , then any closed unbounded set $C \subseteq \Omega^{\oplus}$ contains an ordinal $\alpha \in C$ such that $m = m_{\alpha}$, $t = t_{\alpha}$, $U_{\alpha} = U^{\alpha}$.

Proof. We argue in **L**, that is, under the assumption of $\mathbf{V} = \mathbf{L}$, the axiom of constructibility. It is known that the diamond principle \Diamond_{\varkappa} holds in **L** for any regular cardinal \varkappa , in particular, for $\varkappa = \Omega^{\oplus}$, see, e.g., Theorem 13.21 and page 442 in [32]. The principle \Diamond_{\varkappa} asserts that there is a sequence $\{S_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}} \in \mathbf{L}$ of sets $S_{\alpha} \subseteq \alpha$, of definability class $\Delta_{1}^{\mathbb{H}}$, and such that:

(*) If $X \subseteq \mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus}$ and $C \subseteq \mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus}$ is a closed unbounded set then there is $\alpha \in C$ such that $X \cap \alpha = S_{\alpha}$.

Let $h : \mathbb{O}^{\oplus} \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \mathbb{H}$ be any $\Delta_1^{\mathbb{H}}$ bijection. Put $Y_{\alpha} = \{h(\xi) : \xi \in S_{\alpha}\}$. Clearly $\{Y_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \mathbb{O}^{\oplus}}$ is still a $\Delta_1^{\mathbb{H}}$ sequence. Moreover the following is true:

(†) If $\{B_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus}}$ is a sequence of sets in \mathbb{H} and $C \subseteq \mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus}$ is a closed unbounded set then there is $\alpha \in C$ with $\{B_{\xi}\}_{\xi < \alpha} = Y_{\alpha}$.

Using the sets Y_{α} , we accomplish the proof of the lemma as follows. Assume that $\alpha < \mathbb{O}^{\oplus}$. If Y_{α} is a sequence of the form $\{y_{\xi}\}_{\xi < \alpha}$, such that each y_{ξ} is a triple $\langle m, t, U_{\xi}^{\alpha} \rangle$, where both $m \in \omega$ and $t \in \mathbb{H}$ do not depend on ξ whereas $U_{\xi}^{\alpha} \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\mathbb{O}}$ for each ξ and $\{U_{\xi}^{\alpha}\}_{\xi < \alpha}$ is a \preccurlyeq -increasing and continuous sequence, then put $m_{\alpha} = m$, $t_{\alpha} = t$, and $U^{\alpha} = \bigvee_{\xi < \alpha} U_{\xi}^{\alpha}$. Otherwise put $m_{\alpha} = t_{\alpha} = 0$ and let U^{α} be the null \mathbb{O} -system, that is, $U^{\alpha}(n, i) = \emptyset$ for all n, i. It follows from (†) (plus a routine analysis of definability based on Lemma 17) that this construction leads to the result required. \Box

Theorem 6 (in L). Under the assumptions and notation of Definition 2, there is a \preccurlyeq -increasing sequence $\{\bigcup_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \mathbb{D}^{\oplus}}$ of \mathbb{O} -systems in $sDS_{\mathbb{O}}$, such that:

- (i) The sequence is continuous, so that $U_{\lambda} = \bigvee_{\alpha < \lambda} U_{\alpha}$ for all limit ordinals $\lambda < \Omega^{\oplus}$;
- (ii) If $n < \omega$ then the "slice" $\{ \mathbb{U}_{\alpha} \upharpoonright^{n} \}_{\alpha < \mathbb{O}^{\oplus}}$ is $\Delta_{n+4}^{\mathbb{H}}$;
- (iii) If $m < \omega$ then the "tail" $\{ \mathbb{U}_{\alpha} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} \}_{\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}}$ is (m+3)-complete, in the sense that for any $\Sigma_{m+3}(\mathbb{H})$ set $D \subseteq \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$ there is $\xi < \Omega^{\oplus}$ such that the Ω -system $\mathbb{U}_{\xi} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$ m-solves D, i.e.,
 - either $\mathbb{U}_{\xi} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} \in D$;
 - or there is no Ω -system $U \in D$ with $\mathbb{U}_{\mathcal{E}} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} \preccurlyeq U$;
- (iv) There is a recursive sequence of parameter free \in -formulas $\chi_n(\alpha, x)$ such that if $\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}$ and $x \in \mathbb{H}$ then $\mathbb{H} \models \chi_n(\alpha, x)$ iff $x = \mathbb{U}_{\alpha} \upharpoonright^n$.

Here the "slice" $U \upharpoonright^n$ of a system U is essentially equal to the "column" $\{U(n,i)\}_{i < \omega}$ of the whole "matrix" $U = \{U(n,i)\}_{n,i < \omega}$, while the "tail" $U \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$ can be viewed in the union of all columns to the right of m inclusively, see Definition 5.

Proof. We argue in L. One of the difficulties here is that we have to account for different levels of genericity and completeness for different slices of the construction. To cope with this issue, we make use of Lemma 18. Let us fix the sequences of terms m_{α} , t_{α} , U^{α} such as in the lemma.

Let $<_{\rm L}$ be Gödel's wellordering of L, as in Section 2.2.

For any $m < \omega$, let $\Theta_m \subseteq \mathbb{H} \times \mathbb{H}$ be a fixed universal $\Sigma_{m+3}^{\mathbb{H}}$ set, that is, Θ_m itself is $\Sigma_{m+3}^{\mathbb{H}}$, and if $X \subseteq \mathbb{H}$ is $\Sigma_{m+3}(\mathbb{H})$ (parameters in \mathbb{H} allowed), then there is $t \in \mathbb{H}$ such that $X = \{x : \langle t, x \rangle \in \Theta_m\}$. If $m < \omega$ and $\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}$, then let $U^{m\alpha}$ be the $<_{\mathbf{L}}$ -least Ω -system in \mathbf{sDS}_{Ω} satisfying $U^m \preccurlyeq U^{m\alpha}$ and:

- (a) $U^{m\alpha} \upharpoonright^{< m} = U^{\alpha} \upharpoonright^{< m}$, and
- (b) The Ω -system $U^{m\alpha} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$ *m*-solves the set $D_{\alpha} = \{ V \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} : \langle t_{\alpha}, V \rangle \in \Theta_m \}$.

Making use of 5° of Section 2.2, we conclude that the sequence $\{U^{m\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}}$ is $\Delta_{m+4}^{\mathbb{H}}$.

Now we define a sequence of Ω -systems \mathbb{U}_{ξ} , as required by Theorem 6, by induction.

Put $\mathbb{U}_0(n,i) = \emptyset$ for all n,i.

If $\lambda < \Omega^{\oplus}$ is the limit then by (i) define $\mathbb{U}_{\lambda} = \bigvee_{\alpha < \lambda} \mathbb{U}_{\alpha}$.

Suppose that a Ω -system \mathbb{U}_{α} is defined, and the goal is to define the next one $\mathbb{U}_{\alpha+1}$. Fix n, i and define the components $\mathbb{U}_{\alpha+1}(n, i)$. Note that this definition will depend on the components $\mathbb{U}_{\alpha}(n, i)$ (with the same n, i) only, but not on the Ω -system \mathbb{U}_{α} as a whole.

If it is true that:

$$m_{\alpha} \le n \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{U}_{\alpha}(n,i) = U^{\alpha}(n,i)$$
(7)

(where U^{α} is the Ω -system given by Lemma 18), then put $m = m_{\alpha}$ and $U_{\alpha+1}(n,i) = U^{m\alpha}(n,i)$. Otherwise, i.e., if (7) fails, just keep it with $U_{\alpha+1}(n,i) = U_{\alpha}(n,i)$.

We assert that this inductive construction of Ω -systems \mathbb{U}_{α} leads to Theorem 6.

Requirement (i) of the theorem is satisfied by construction.

The definability requirement (ii) of the theorem is subject to routine verification on the base of Lemma 17, which we leave to the reader.

To prove (iii), fix a number *m* and a $\Sigma_{m+3}(\mathbb{H})$ set $D \subseteq \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$. We have to find an index $\xi < \Omega^{\oplus}$ such that the Ω -system $\mathbb{U}_{\xi} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$ *m*-solves *D*. There is an element $t \in \mathbb{H}$ satisfying:

$$D = \{ V \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \,|\,^{\geq m} : \langle t, V \rangle \in \Theta_m \},\$$

where Θ_m is the universal set as above. Pick, by Lemma 18, an ordinal $\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}$ satisfying $m = m_{\alpha}$, $t = t_{\alpha}$, $\mathbb{U}_{\alpha} = U^{\alpha}$. Then (7) holds for all $n \ge m$, and hence by definition we have $\mathbb{U}_{\alpha+1} \upharpoonright^{\ge m} = U^{m\alpha} \upharpoonright^{\ge m}$. Therefore the Ω -system $\mathbb{U}_{\alpha+1} \upharpoonright^{\ge m} m$ -solves the set D by (b), as required.

(iv) Coming back to the choice of universal sets Θ_m in (b), it can be w.l.o.g. assumed that there is a recursive sequence of parameter free \in -formulas $\vartheta_n(t, x)$ such that each ϑ_n is a Σ_{n+3} formula and $\Theta_m = \{ \langle t, x \rangle \in \mathbb{H} : \mathbb{H} \models \vartheta_n(t, x) \}$. This routinely leads to \in -formulas $\chi_n(\alpha, x)$ required. It can be observed that in fact each χ_n is a Σ_{n+4} formula (not important and will not be used).

This completes the proof of Theorem 6. \Box

4.3. Preservation of the Completeness

The next lemma says that the completeness property (iii) of Theorem 6, of the sequence $\{U_{\xi}\}_{\xi < \Omega^{\oplus}}$, still holds, to some extent, in rather mild generic extensions of **L**.

Lemma 19. Under the assumptions and notation of Definition 2, suppose that $\{\mathbb{U}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}} \in \mathbf{L}$ is a \preccurlyeq increasing sequence of Ω -systems in \mathbf{sDS}_{Ω} satisfying (i)–(iv) of Theorem 6.

Let $Q \in \mathbf{L}$ be a forcing notion with card $Q \leq \mathbb{O}$ in \mathbf{L} , e.g., $Q = \mathbb{C}$. Let $F \subseteq Q$ be a set Q-generic over \mathbf{L} .

Assume that $m < \omega$, $\delta < \mathbb{Q}^{\oplus}$, and a set $D \in \mathbf{L}[F]$, $D \subseteq \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$, belongs to $\Sigma_{m+3}(\mathbb{H}[F])$, and is open in $\mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$ so that any extension of a Ω -system $U \in D$ in $\mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$ belongs to D itself.

Then there is an ordinal α , $\delta \leq \alpha < \Omega^{\oplus}$, such that $\mathbb{U}_{\alpha} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$ *m*-solves *D*, as in Theorem 6(iii).

We recall that $\mathbb{H} = (\mathbf{H} \mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus})^{\mathbf{L}}$ and $\mathbb{H}[F] = (\mathbf{H} \mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus})^{\mathbf{L}[F]}$ by (5), (6).

Proof. As obviously $\mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} \subseteq \mathbb{H}$, we conclude by Theorem 5(ii) that there is a $\Sigma_{m+3}(\mathbb{H})$ name $t \in L$, $t \subseteq Q \times \mathbb{H}$, such that D = t[F].

We argue in **L**. If $q \in Q$, $U \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$, and there is such a condition $h \in Q$ that $h \leq q$ (meaning *h* is stronger) and $\langle h, U \rangle \in t$, then write A(q, U). If $b \in Q$ then we define:

$$D(b) = \{ U \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \,|\, \geq^m : \exists q \in Q(q \leq b \land A(q, U)) \}.$$

Each of the sets $D(b) \subseteq \mathbb{H}$ belongs to $\Sigma_{m+3}(\mathbb{H})$ by virtue of Lemma 17 and the choice of t. Therefore, by the choice of the sequence of Ω -systems, for every $b \in Q$ there is an ordinal $\alpha(b)$, $\delta < \alpha(b) < \Omega^{\oplus}$, such that the Ω -system $\mathbb{U}_{\alpha(b)} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} m$ -solves the set D(b).

Note that $\delta = \sup_{b \in O} \alpha(b) < \Omega^{\oplus}$ by the cardinality argument.

We claim that the Ω -system $\mathbb{U}_{\delta} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} m$ -solves D. It suffices to prove that if a Ω -system $U \in D$ extends $\mathbb{U}_{\delta} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$, then the Ω -system $\mathbb{U}_{\delta} \upharpoonright^{\geq m}$ itself belongs to D. Moreover, as D is open, it suffices to find $b \in Q$, satisfying $\mathbb{U}_{\alpha(b)} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} \in D$.

We argue in **L**. Consider the set $B = \{b \in Q : \bigcup_{\alpha(b)} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} \in D(b)\}$. If $b \in B$ then pick a particular $q = q(b) \in Q$ such that $q \leq b$ and $A(q, \bigcup_{\alpha(b)} \upharpoonright^{\geq m})$ holds. If $b \in Q \setminus B$ then put q(b) = b. The set $Q' = \{q(b) : b \in Q\}$ is dense in Q. It follows that there is $b \in Q' \cap F$. On the other hand, as $U \in D$, there is a condition $h \in Q$ with $\langle h, U \rangle \in t$.

Then there exists some $q \in F$ satisfying $q \leq h$ and $q \leq h(b) \leq b$. This implies $U \in D(b)$. It follows, by the choice of $\alpha(b)$, that $\mathbb{U}_{\alpha(b)} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} \in D(b)$, too. However then $b \in B$, and hence we have $A(q(b), \mathbb{U}_{\alpha(b)} \upharpoonright^{\geq m})$. By definition there is a condition $h' \in Q$ with $q(b) \leq h'$, such that $\langle h', \mathbb{U}_{\alpha(b)} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} \rangle \in t$. However $h' \in F$ (since $f(b) \in F$). We conclude that $\mathbb{U}_{\delta} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} \in D$, as required. \Box

4.4. Key Definability Engine

We argue under the assumptions and notation of Definition 2 on page 13. In particular, a successor L-cardinal $\Omega > \omega$ is fixed. We make the following arrangements.

Definition 6 (in **L**). We fix $a \preccurlyeq$ -increasing sequence of Ω -systems $\{\bigcup_{\xi}^{\Omega}\}_{\xi < \Omega^{\oplus}}$ satisfying conditions (i)–(iv) of Theorem 6 for the particular **L**-cardinal Ω introduced by Definition 2.

We define the limit Ω -system $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega} = \bigvee_{\xi < \Omega^{\oplus}} \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\xi}$, the basic forcing notion $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} = \mathbf{P}[\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}]$, and the subforcings $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega}_{\gamma} = \mathbf{P}[\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\gamma}]$, $\gamma < \Omega^{\oplus}$.

Define restrictions $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$, $G \upharpoonright z$ ($z \subseteq \mathcal{I}$, $G \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}$), $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n,i \rangle}$ etc. as in Section 3.2.

Thus by construction $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \in \mathbf{L}$ is the **L**-product of sets $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega}(n, i) = P[\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}(n, i)]$, $n, i \in \omega$. Lemma 14 implies some cardinal characterictics of \mathbb{P}^{Ω} , namely:

- (I) card $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} = \Omega^{\oplus}$ in L,
- (II) \mathbb{P}^{Ω} satisfies Ω^{\oplus} -CC in L,
- (III) \mathbb{P}^{Ω} is Ω^{\ominus} -closed and Ω^{\ominus} -distributive in **L**.

Corollary 2. \mathbb{P}^{Ω} does not adjoin new reals to **L**.

Proof. The result follows from (III) because $\Omega^{\ominus} \ge \omega$ by Definition 2. \Box

As for definability, the set \mathbb{U}^{Ω} is not parameter free definable in $\mathbb{H} = (\mathbf{H}\Omega^{\oplus})^{\mathbf{L}}$, yet its slices are:

Lemma 20 (in **L**). Let $n < \omega$. Then the set $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright^n = \{ \langle i, f \rangle : f \in \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}(n, i) \}$ belongs to $\Sigma_{n+4}^{\mathbb{H}}$. In addition there is a recursive sequence of parameter free \in -formulas $u_n(i, f)$ such that, for any $n < \omega$, if $i < \omega$ and $f \in \mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega}$ then $f \in \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}(n,i)$ iff $\mathbb{H} \models u_n(i,f)$.

Proof. To prove the first claim, apply (ii) of Theorem 6. To prove the additional claim define:

$$\boldsymbol{u}_n(i,f) := \exists \alpha \exists x (\chi_n(\alpha,x) \land f \in x(n,i)),$$

where χ_n are formulas given by (iv) of Theorem 6. \Box

We further let formulas \mathbb{T}_{ni}^{Ω} ($n, i \in \omega$) be defined as follows:

$$\mathbb{F}_{ni}^{\Omega}(S) :=_{\operatorname{def}} S \subseteq \operatorname{Seq}_{\Omega} \land \forall f \in \operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega} (f \in \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}(n, i) \iff S \text{ does not cover } f).$$

The next theorem shows that any real in L and even in some generic extensions of L can be made parameter free definable in appropriate subextensions of \mathbb{P}^{Ω} -generic extensions, basically by means of the formulas $\mathbb{T}_{ni}^{\Omega}(S)$. We prove this result in a rather general form, which includes the case of a forcing notion $Q = \mathbb{C}$, actually used in this paper, as just a particular case. The proof of the particular case $Q = \mathbb{C}$ would not be any simpler though.

Theorem 7. Assume that $Q \in \mathbf{L}$ is a forcing notion, $\operatorname{card} Q \leq \Omega$ in \mathbf{L} , a pair $\langle W, G \rangle$ is $(Q \times \mathbb{P}^{\Omega})$ -generic over $\mathbf{L}, Y \in \mathbf{L}[W]$, and $z \in \mathbf{L}[Y]$, $z \subseteq \mathcal{I} = \omega \times \omega$. Then,

- (i) Ω^{\oplus} is a cardinal in $\mathbf{L}[Y, G]$;
- (ii) If $\langle n,i \rangle \in z$ then $S_G(n,i) \in \mathbf{L}[G \upharpoonright z]$ and $\mathbb{T}_{ni}^{\Omega}(S_G(n,i))$ holds, but
- (iii) If $\langle n,i \rangle \in \mathcal{I} \setminus z$ then $S_G(n,i) \notin \mathbf{L}[Y,G \upharpoonright z]$; and moreover there is no set $S \subseteq \mathbf{Seq}_{\mathbb{O}}$ in $\mathbf{L}[Y,G \upharpoonright z]$ such that $\mathbb{T}_{ni}^{\Omega}(S)$.
- (iv) It follows that $z = \{ \langle n, i \rangle : \exists S \subseteq \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega} \mathbb{T}_{ni}^{\Omega}(S) \}$ in $\mathbf{L}[Y, G \upharpoonright z]$;
- (v) If $n < \omega$ then the n-th slice $(z)_n = \{i : \langle n, i \rangle \in z\}$ belongs to $\Sigma_{n+6}^{\mathbb{T}}$, where $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{H}[Y, G \upharpoonright z] =$ $(\mathbf{H} \mathbb{O}^{\oplus})^{\mathbf{L}[Y,G \upharpoonright z]};$
- (vi) If $1 \leq \ell < \omega$, $\Omega^{\oplus} = \omega_{\ell}^{\mathbf{L}[Y,G \upharpoonright z]}$, and GCH holds in $\mathbf{L}[Y,G \upharpoonright z]$ for all cardinals ω_k , $k < \ell 1$, then it holds in $\mathbf{L}[Y, G \upharpoonright z]$ that $(z)_n \in \mathbf{D}_{1\ell}$ for all $n < \omega$;
- (vii) Under the assumptions of (vi), it holds in $L[Y, G \upharpoonright z]$ that the set z as a whole belongs to $D_{1,\ell+1}$.

Proof. (i) \mathbb{O}^{\oplus} remains a cardinal in $\mathbf{L}[G]$ by Lemma 15(iv), hence Q still satisfies card $Q < \mathbb{O}^{\oplus}$ in L[G]. As W is Q-generic over L[G], Ω^{\oplus} remains a cardinal in L[W, G] and in $L[Y, G] \subseteq L[W, G]$.

(ii) If $\langle n, i \rangle \in z$ then by construction:

$$G(n,i) := \{p(n,i) : p \in G\} = \{p'(n,i) : p' \in G \upharpoonright z\} \in \mathbf{L}[G \upharpoonright z],$$

and hence $S_G(n,i) \in \mathbf{L}[G \upharpoonright z]$ as well. Now $\mathbb{F}_{ni}^{\Omega}(S_G(n,i))$ follows from Lemma 15(ii). (iii) We w.l.o.g. assume that $z = \mathcal{I} \smallsetminus \{\langle n, i \rangle\}$ and Y = W. Then $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright z = \mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n, i \rangle}$ can be identified with $\{p \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega} : p(n,i) = \langle \emptyset, \emptyset \rangle\}$, see Remark 3. Suppose towards the contrary that $S \in$ $\mathbf{L}[W,G\!\upharpoonright_{\neq\langle n,i\rangle}] = \mathbf{L}[W][G\!\upharpoonright_{\neq\langle n,i\rangle}] \text{ satisfies } \mathbb{F}_{ni}^{\Omega}(S). \text{ There is a name } \tau \in \mathbf{L}[W], \tau \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}\!\upharpoonright_{\neq\langle n,i\rangle} \times \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega},$ such that:

$$S = \tau[G \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n, i \rangle}] := \{ s \in \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega} : \exists p \in G \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n, i \rangle} (\langle p, s \rangle \in \tau) \}.$$

The forcing \mathbb{P}^{Ω} remains Ω^{\oplus} -CC in $\mathbf{L}[W]$ by Lemma 14. This allows us to w.l.o.g. assume that card $\tau < \Omega^{\oplus}$ in $\mathbf{L}[W]$, and then $\tau \in \mathbb{H}[W] = (\mathbf{H}\Omega^{\oplus})^{\mathbf{L}[W]}$.

There is a condition $p_0 \in G$ which $(\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n, i \rangle})$ -forces $\mathbb{F}_{ni}(\tau[\underline{G} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n, i \rangle}])$ over $\mathbf{L}[W]$. If $s \in \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega}$

then put $A_s = \{p : \langle p, s \rangle \in \tau\}; A_s \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n, i \rangle}$. We argue in **L**. As card $\tau < \Omega^{\oplus}$, there is an ordinal $\gamma < \Omega^{\oplus}$ such that $\tau \subseteq (\mathbb{P}^{\Omega}_{\gamma} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n, i \rangle}) \times \operatorname{Seq}_{\Omega}$ and $p_0 \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}_{\gamma} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n, i \rangle}$. Consider the set *D* of all Ω -systems $U \in \operatorname{sDS}_{\Omega}$ extending $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\gamma}$ and such that there exists a condition $p' \in \mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n,i \rangle}$, $p' \leqslant p_0$, an element $f \in U^{\complement}(n,i) = \bigcup_{\langle k,j \rangle \neq \langle n,i \rangle} U(k,j)$, and an ordinal $\mu < \Omega$, such that p' contradicts to every $p \in \bigcup_{\mu \le \alpha < \Omega} A_{f \upharpoonright \alpha}$. Then D is $\Delta_3^{\mathbb{H}}$ by Lemma 17 (and Theorem 5(i), to transfer the definability properties from \mathbb{H} to $\mathbb{H}[W]$), with $\tau \in \mathbb{H}[W]$ as a parameter. Therefore, by Lemma 19, there is an ordinal $\eta < \Omega^{\oplus}$ such that the pair $\mathbb{U}_{\eta}^{\Omega}$ 0-solves *D* as in Theorem 6(iii). We have two cases.

Case 1: $\mathbb{U}_{\eta}^{\Omega} \in D$. Let this be witnessed by p', f, μ as indicated. Then $f \in (\mathbb{U}_{\eta}^{\Omega})^{\complement}(n, i)$, therefore $f \notin \mathbb{U}^{\mathbb{O}}(n,i)$. By definition $\mathbb{U}^{\mathbb{O}}_{\gamma} \preccurlyeq \mathbb{U}^{\mathbb{O}}_{\eta}$, hence $\gamma \leq \eta$. Furthermore, if $s = f \upharpoonright \xi$, $\mu \leq \xi < \omega_1$, then the condition $p' (\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n, i \rangle})$ -forces $s \notin \tau[\underline{G} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n, i \rangle}]$ over $\mathbf{L}[W]$. We conclude that p' forces $\tau[\underline{G}]/f < \mu < \mathbb{O}$ over $\mathbf{L}[W]$. Note that p_0 forces $\tau[\underline{G}|_{\neq \langle n,i \rangle}]/f = \mathbb{O}$ because $f \notin \mathbb{U}(n,i)$. However $p' \leq p_0$. This is a contradiction.

Case 2: There is no Ω -system $U \in D$ extending $\mathbb{U}_{\eta}^{\Omega}$. We can assume that $\gamma \leq \eta$, since if $\eta < \gamma$ then the Ω -system $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\gamma}$ has the same property. Easily there exists δ , $\eta < \delta < \omega_1$, such that $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\delta}(n,i) \setminus \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\eta}(n,i) \neq \emptyset$. (To prove this claim note that the set D' of all Ω -systems $U \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega}$ satisfying $U(n,i) \setminus \mathbb{U}_{\eta}^{\Omega}(n,i) \neq \emptyset$ is dense in **sDS**_{Ω} therefore, any *U* that 0-solves *D'* belongs to *D'*.)

Take any $f \in \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\delta}(n,i) \setminus \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\eta}(n,i)$. Then $f \in \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}(n,i)$, and hence p_0 forces $\tau[\underline{G}]/f < \Omega$ over L[W] by the choice of p_0 . It follows that there exists a condition $p' \in \mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{Q}} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n,i \rangle}$, $p' \leq p_0$, and an ordinal $\mu < \omega_1$, such that for any $\alpha \ge \mu$, p' forces $s \notin \tau[\underline{G} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n,i \rangle}]$ over $\mathbf{L}[W]$, where $s = f \upharpoonright \alpha$. Thus p' contradicts to each condition $p \in \bigcup_{\mu \le \alpha \le \Omega} A_{f \upharpoonright \alpha}$. We may w.l.o.g. assume that $p' \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}_{\delta} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n,i \rangle}$ (otherwise increase δ appropriately). Under these assumptions, define a Ω -system U so that:

$$U(n,i) = \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\delta}(n,i) \smallsetminus \{f\}, \quad U(n,i+1) = \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\delta}(n,i+1) \cup \{f\},$$

and $U(k,j) = \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\delta}(k,j)$ for all pairs of indices $\langle k,j \rangle$ other than $\langle n,i \rangle$ and $\langle n,i+1 \rangle$. Obviously U extends \mathbb{U}_n^{Ω} , and $p' \in \mathbf{P}[U]$. Therefore $U \in D$. But this contradicts the Case 2 hypothesis.

Claim (iv) is an immediate corollary of (ii) and (iii).

To prove (v), note that (*) $(z)_n = \{i : \exists S \subseteq \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega} \mathbb{F}_{ni}^{\Omega}(S)\}$ by (iv). However with *n* fixed the relation $f \in \mathbb{U}^{\mathbb{Q}}(n, i)$ with i, f as arguments is $\Sigma_{n+4}^{\mathbb{H}}$ by Lemma 20, hence $\Sigma_{n+4}^{\mathbb{T}}$ by Theorem 5(i). Now $(z)_n \in \Sigma_{n+6}^{\parallel}$ follows by (*).

To prove (vi), make use of (v) and Theorem 3.

Let us finally prove (vii). Detalizing the proof of (v) and (vi) on the base of formulas $u_n(f,i)$ of Lemma 20, we obtain a recursive sequence of parameter free \in -formulas $\varphi_n(i)$ such that if $n, i < \omega$ then $i \in (z)_n$ iff $\mathbb{T} \models \varphi_n(i)$. The proof of Theorem 3 is obviously effective enough to obtain another recursive sequence of parameter free type-theoretic formulas $\psi_n(i)$ of order $\leq \ell$ such that it holds in **L**[*Y*, *G* $\upharpoonright z$] that: $i \in (z)_n$ iff $\psi_n(i)$, that is, $z = \{ \langle n, i \rangle : \psi_n(i) \}$.

However it is known that the truth of formulas of order $\leq \ell$ can be uniformly expressed by a suitable formula of order $\ell + 1$, see e.g., [18]. In other words, there is a parameter free type theoretic formula $\Psi(n,i)$ of order $\leq \ell + 1$ such that it holds in $L[Y,G \upharpoonright z]$ that: $i \in (z)_n$ iff $\Psi(n,i)$, that is, $z = \{ \langle n, i \rangle : \Psi(n, i) \}$. We conclude that z is definable in $L[Y, G \upharpoonright z]$ by a type-theoretic formula of order $\leq \ell + 1$. In other words, $z \in \mathbf{D}_{1,\ell+1}$ in $\mathbf{L}[Y,G \upharpoonright z]$, as required. \Box

4.5. We Specify Ω

We come back to Theorem 2. Now it is time to specify the value of the L-cardinal Ω , so far left rather arbitrary by Definition 2 on page 13.

Definition 7 (in L). *Recall that* $1 \leq M < \omega$ *is a number considered in Theorem 2.*

We let $\Omega = \omega_{\mathbb{M}}^{\mathbf{L}}$, and accordingly define $\Omega^{\ominus} = \omega_{\mathbb{M}-1}^{\mathbf{L}}$, $\Omega^{\oplus} = \omega_{\mathbb{M}+1}^{\mathbf{L}}$,

$$\mathbb{H} = (\mathbf{H} \mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus})^{\mathbf{L}} = (\mathbf{H} \omega_{\mathbb{M}+1}^{\mathbf{L}})^{\mathbf{L}} = \{ x \in \mathbf{L} : \operatorname{card} \left(\operatorname{TC} \left(x \right) \right) < \omega_{\mathbb{M}+1}^{\mathbf{L}} \text{ in } \mathbf{L} \}$$

by Definition 2. Applying Definition 6 with $\Omega = \omega_{\mathbb{M}}^{\mathbf{L}}$ *, we accordingly fix:*

- *−* $A \preccurlyeq$ -increasing sequence of Ω-systems $\{ \mathbb{U}_{\xi}^{\Omega} \}_{\xi < \Omega^{\oplus}}$ satisfying (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) of Theorem 6 for the chosen **L**-cardinal $\Omega = \omega_{\mathbb{M}}^{\mathbf{L}}$,
- The limit Ω -system $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega} = \bigvee_{\xi < \Omega^{\oplus}} \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\xi}$,
- The basic forcing notion $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} = \mathbf{P}[\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}]$, and the subforcings $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega}_{\gamma} = \mathbf{P}[\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\gamma}]$, $\gamma < \Omega^{\oplus}$,

and define restrictions $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$ ($z \subseteq \mathcal{I}$), $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq n}$, $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{< n}$, $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright_{\neq \langle n,i \rangle}$ etc. as in Section 3.2.

4.6. The Model

To prove Theorem 2 we make use of a certain submodel of a $(\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{P}^{\Omega})$ -generic extension of L. First of all, if $g: \omega \to \mathscr{P}(\omega)$ is any function then we put:

$$\boldsymbol{w}[g] = \{ \langle k, j \rangle : k < \omega \land j \in g(k) \}.$$
(8)

Now consider a pair $\langle \zeta, G \rangle$, $(\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{P}^{\Omega})$ -generic over **L**. Thus $\zeta : \omega \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \Xi$ is a generic collapse function, while the set $G \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}$ is \mathbb{P}^{Ω} -generic over $\mathbf{L}[\zeta]$. The set:

$$\boldsymbol{w}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}] = \{ \langle k, j \rangle : k < \omega \land j \in \boldsymbol{\zeta}(k) \} \subseteq \boldsymbol{\mathcal{I}} = \omega \times \omega \tag{9}$$

obviously belongs to the model $\mathbf{L}[\zeta] = \mathbf{L}[w[\zeta]]$, but not to \mathbf{L} . Therefore the restrictions $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright w[\zeta]$, $G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]$ in the next theorem have to be understood in the sense of Definition 5 on page 15, ignoring Remark 3 since, definitely $w[\zeta] \notin \mathbf{L}$. Thus $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright w[\zeta]$ is a forcing notion in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta]$, not in \mathbf{L} .

The following theorem describes the structure of such generic models.

Theorem 8. Under the assumptions of Definition 7, let a pair $\langle \zeta, G \rangle$ be $(\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{P}^{\Omega})$ -generic over **L**. Then:

- (i) $G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]$ is a set $(\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright w[\zeta])$ -generic over $L[\zeta]$,
- (ii) $\omega_{\gamma}^{\mathbf{L}[\zeta,G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]} = \omega_{1+\gamma}^{\mathbf{L}} \text{ for all ordinals } \gamma \geq 1, \text{ in particular, } \mathbb{O}^{\oplus} = \omega_{\mathbb{M}}^{\mathbf{L}[\zeta,G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]};$

and it is true in the model $L[\zeta, G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]$ that

- (iii) If $\mathbb{M} \geq 2$ then $\mathbb{\Omega} = \omega_{\mathbb{M}-1}$ and $\mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus} = \mathbb{\Omega}^+ = \omega_{\mathbb{M}}$, whereas if $\mathbb{M} = 1$ then $\omega < \mathbb{\Omega} = \mathbb{\Omega}^{\oplus} = \omega_1$;
- (iv) GCH holds;
- (v) Every constructible real belongs to $\mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}}$,
- (vi) If $1 \le m < \omega$ and $m \ne \mathbb{M}$ then $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \notin \mathbf{D}_{2m}$, and
- (vii) every real in $\mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}}$ is constructible.

Remark 4. Theorem 8 implies Theorem 2 via the model $L[\zeta, G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]$, of course. As for Theorem 8 itself, its proof follows below in this paper. Claims (i)–(vi) will be established right now, and Claim (vii) is accomplished in Section 6.6, based on the substantial work in Sections 5 and 6.

Proof (Claims (i)–(vi) of Theorem 8). To prove that $G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]$ is $(\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright w[\zeta])$ -generic over $\mathbf{L}[\zeta]$, note that $G \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}$ is \mathbb{P}^{Ω} -generic over $\mathbf{L}[\zeta]$ by the product forcing theorem w.r.t. the product $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}$. However \mathbb{P}^{Ω} can be naturally identified with the product $(\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright w[\zeta]) \times (\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright z)$ in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta]$, where $z = \mathcal{I} \setminus w[\zeta]$. This implies the result by another application of the product forcing theorem.

To establish (ii), (iii), and (iv), it suffices to apply Lemma 16, as $L[\zeta] \subseteq L[\zeta, G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]] \subseteq L[\zeta, G]$.

To prove Claim (v), let $x \in L$, $x \subseteq \omega$. By the genericity of ζ , there is a number $n_0 < \omega$ such that $x = \zeta(n_0)$. Then, for any *i*, we have $\langle n_0, i \rangle \in w[\zeta]$ iff $i \in x$. By Theorem 7(vi) (with $Q = \mathbb{C}$, $z = w[\zeta]$, $Y = \zeta$, $\ell = \mathbb{M}$), it is true in $L[\zeta, G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]$ that *x* belongs to $\mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}}$, as required.

To prove Claim (vi), assume that $1 \le m < \omega$ and $m \ne M$; we have to show that $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \notin \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ in $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}, G \upharpoonright \boldsymbol{w}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]]$. We have two cases.

Case 1: $m > \mathbb{M}$. Consider the set $z = w[\zeta]$ defined by (9) in Section 4.6. By definition $z \subseteq \omega \times \omega$, $z \in \mathbf{L}[\zeta]$. It follows from Theorem 7(vii) (with $Q = \mathbb{C}$, $z = w[\zeta]$, $Y = \zeta$, $\ell = \mathbb{M}$), that $z \in \mathbf{D}_{1,\mathbb{M}+1}$, hence $z \in \mathbf{D}_{1,\mathbb{M}+1}$ as $\mathbb{M} + 1 \leq m$. Now suppose to the contrary that $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, G \upharpoonright z]$. As $\omega_1^{\mathbf{L}[z]} = \omega_1^{\mathbf{L}[\zeta,G \upharpoonright z]} = \omega_2^{\mathbf{L}}$, there exist real $x \in \mathbf{L}[z]$, $x \subseteq \omega$, which do not belong to \mathbf{D}_{1m} ; let x_0 be the least of them in the sense of the Gödel well ordering of $\mathbf{L}[z]$. Then x_0 itself belongs to \mathbf{D}_{1m} by 5° of Section 2.2, since so does z by the above, which is a contradiction.

Case 2: $1 \le m < \mathbb{M}$. It suffices to apply Lemma 2 on page 8 because $m < \mathbb{M}$ and $\mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}} = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$ holds in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]$ by Claims (v) and (vii). We may note that this short argument refers to Claim (vii) that will be conclusively established only in Section 6.6.

An independent proof is as follows. If $1 \le m < \mathbb{M}$, then $\mathbb{M} \ge 2$, and hence Theorem 8(iii) implies:

$$\mathscr{P}^{m}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}] = \mathscr{P}^{m}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}, \boldsymbol{G} \upharpoonright w] = \mathscr{P}^{m}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}, \boldsymbol{G}].$$

We conclude that the sets \mathbf{D}_{1m} and \mathbf{D}_{2m} are the same in these models, and hence it suffices to prove that $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \notin \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ in the \mathbb{C} -generic extension $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$. Now we apply the fact that collapse forcing notions similar to \mathbb{C} are homogeneous enough for any parameter free formula either be forced by every condition, or be negated by every condition. In our case, it follows that $(\mathbf{D}_{1m})^{\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]} \in \mathbf{L}$ and $(\mathbf{D}_{1m})^{\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]}$ is countable in \mathbf{L} . Therefore if, to the contrary, $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ in $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$, then taking the Gödel-least $x \in (\mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}) \setminus \mathbf{D}_{1m}$ in $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$, we routinely get $x \in \mathbf{D}_{1m}$ in $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$ via 5° of Section 2.2, with a contradiction.

This completes the proof of Claims (i)–(vi) of Theorem 8. \Box

5. Forcing Approximation

We argue under the assumptions and notation of Definition 7 on page 22.

Beginning here a lengthy proof of Claim (vii) of Theorem 8, our plan will be to establish the following, somewhat unexpected result. Recall that, by Theorem 8(ii), it is true in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]$ that $\Omega = \omega_{\mathbb{M}-1}$ and $\Omega^{\oplus} = \Omega^+ = \omega_{\mathbb{M}}$ in case $\mathbb{M} \ge 2$, whereas $\omega < \Omega = \Omega^{\oplus} = \omega_1$ in case $\mathbb{M} = 1$.

Theorem 9. Assume that a pair $\langle \zeta, G \rangle$ is $(\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{P}^{\Omega})$ -generic over \mathbf{L} , and $a \in \mathbf{L}[\zeta, G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]$, $a \subseteq \omega$, and it is true in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]$ that:

either $\mathbb{M} \ge 2$ and a is \in -definable in $\langle \mathscr{P}(\mathbb{n}); \in, \mathbb{p} \rangle$ (see Section 2.4); or $\mathbb{M} = 1$ and a is \in -definable in $\langle \mathscr{P}(\omega); \in \rangle$.

Then $a \in \mathbf{L}[G]$.

Remark 5. Theorem 9 implies Claim (vii) of Theorem 8.

Indeed, **arguing in** $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]$, suppose that $a \subseteq \omega$, $a \in \mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}}$. If $\mathbb{M} = 1$ then we immediately have the "or" case of Theorem 9. Thus suppose that $\mathbb{M} \ge 2$. Theorem 3 is applicable by Theorem 8(iv), therefore x is \in -definable in $\mathbf{H}\omega_{\mathbb{M}}$, that is, in $\mathbf{H}\Omega^{\oplus}$ by Theorem 8(iii). Then Theorem 4 is applicable as well, and hence we have the "either" case of Theorem 9. We conclude that $a \in \mathbf{L}[G]$ by Theorem 9. However, by Lemma 14, the forcing notion \mathbb{P} is Ω^{\ominus} -closed in \mathbf{L} , and this property is sufficient for \mathbb{P} -generic sets not to add new subsets of ω , so $a \in \mathbf{L}$, as required by (vii) of Theorem 8.

Thus Theorem 9 completes the proof of Theorem 8 as a whole because other claims of Theorem 8 have been already established, see Section 4.6.

To prove Theorem 9, we are going to define a forcing-like relation **forc** similar to approximate forcing relations considered in [4,5], and earlier in [3] and some other papers on the base of forcing notions not of an almost-disjoint type. Then we exploit certain symmetries of objects related to **forc**.

Definition 8. *Extending Definition 7 on page 22, let us fix a pair* $\langle \zeta, \mathbf{G} \rangle$, $(\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{P}^{\Omega})$ -generic over **L** for the remainder of the text. We consider generic extensions:

$$\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}] \subseteq \mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright \boldsymbol{w}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]] \subseteq \mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}, \mathbf{G}].$$

We shall assume that $\mathbb{M} \ge 2$ (the "either" case of Theorem 9). The "or" case $\mathbb{M} = 1$ is pretty similar: Ω is changed to ω during the course of the proof.

5.1. Language

We argue under the assumptions and notation of Definitions 7 and 8.

Assume that z ∈ L[ζ], z ⊆ I = ω × ω. Then let Nam^z_ζ ∈ L[ζ] be the set of all sets τ ∈ L[ζ], τ ⊆ (*P_Ω ↾ z) × Ω, with card τ < Ω[⊕] in L[ζ].

Note that ${}^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$, a bigger forcing notion, is used instead of \mathbb{P}^{Ω} in this definition. One of the advantages is that ${}^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ is \in -definable in \mathbb{H} by Lemma 17.

If $\tau \in \mathbf{Nam}_{\mathbf{Z}}^{z}$ and $G \subseteq {}^{*}\mathbf{P}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$ then put $\tau[G] = \{\alpha < \Omega : \exists p \in G(\langle p, \alpha \rangle \in \tau)\}.$

Lemma 21. $\mathscr{P}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{L}[\zeta, G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]] = \{\tau[G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]] : \tau \in \operatorname{Nam}_{\zeta}^{w[\zeta]}\}.$

Proof. Let $X \in \mathbf{L}[\zeta, G \upharpoonright w[\zeta]], X \subseteq \Omega$. The set $\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright w[\zeta]$ is $(\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright w[\zeta])$ -generic over $\mathbf{L}[\zeta]$ by the product forcing theory. Therefore, by a well-known property of generic extensions (see, e.g., [32]), there is a name $t \in \mathbf{L}[\zeta], t \subseteq (\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright w[\zeta]) \times \Omega$, such that $X = t[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]$. To reduce t to a name τ with the same property, satisfying card $\tau < \Omega^{\oplus}$, apply Lemma 14. \Box

Now, arguing in $L[\zeta]$, we introduce a language that will help us to study analytic definability in the generic extensions considered. We argue under the assumptions and notation of Definition 8.

Let \mathcal{L} be the 2nd order language, with variables α, β, \ldots , assumed to vary over ordinals $< \Omega$, and X, Y, \ldots , varying over the subsets of Ω . Atomic formulas of the following types are allowed:

$$\alpha < \beta$$
, $\alpha = \beta$, $\alpha \in X$, $\mathbb{p}(\alpha, \beta) = \gamma$.

(See Section 2.4 on p.) Only the connectives \land and \neg and quantifiers $\exists \alpha$ and $\exists X$ are allowed, the other connectives and \forall are treated as shortcuts, and, to reduce the number of cases, the equality X = Y will be treated as a shortcut for $\forall \alpha (\alpha \in X \iff \alpha \in Y)$.

The *complexity* $\#(\varphi)$ of an \mathcal{L} -formula φ is defined by induction so that:

- $\#(\varphi) = 0$ for all atomic formulas,
- $\#(\varphi \wedge \psi) = \max\{\#(\varphi), \#(\psi)\},\$
- $#(\exists \alpha \varphi(\alpha)) = #(\varphi(\alpha))$ and $#(\exists X \varphi(X)) = #(\varphi(X))$,
- Finally, $\#(\neg \phi) = \#(\phi) + 1$.

Note that the complexity of quantifier-free formulas can be as high as one wants. If $z \in \mathbf{L}[\zeta]$, $z \subseteq \omega \times \omega$, then let $\mathcal{L}(z)$ be the extension of \mathcal{L} by:

- Ordinals $\alpha < \Omega$ to substitute variables over Ω ,
- Names in **Nam**^{*z*} to substitute variables X, Y, \ldots over $\mathscr{P}(\Omega)$.

If $G \subseteq *\mathbf{P}_M \upharpoonright z$, then the *valuation* $\varphi[G]$ of such a formula φ is defined by substitution of $\tau[G]$ for any name $\tau \in \mathbf{Nam}^z_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}$ that occurs in φ , and relativizing each quantifier $\exists \alpha$ or $\exists X$ to resp. Ω , $\mathscr{P}(\Omega)$. Thus $\varphi[G]$ is a formula of \mathcal{L} with parameters in $\mathscr{P}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}, G]$ and quantifiers relativized as above, that is, to Ω and to $\mathscr{P}(\Omega)$, and $\varphi[G]$ can contain \mathbb{P} interpreted as $\mathbb{P}[(\Omega \times \Omega)]$. (See Section 2.4 on \mathbb{P} .)

5.2. Forcing Approximation

We still argue under the assumptions and notation of Definitions 7 and 8.

Our next goal is to define, in $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$, a forcing-style relation $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \varphi$. In case $z = w[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$ and $U = \mathbb{U}^{\Omega}$, the relation $\operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z}$ will be compatible with the truth in the model $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright w[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]] = \mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}][\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright w[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]]$, viewed as a $(\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright w[\boldsymbol{\zeta}])$ -generic extension of $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$. But, perhaps unlike the true forcing relation associated with $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright w[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$, the relation $\operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z}$ will be invariant under certain transformations.

The definition goes on in $L[\zeta]$ by induction on the complexity of φ .

- (F1) When writing $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \varphi$, it will always be assumed that $U \in \operatorname{sDS}_{\Omega}$, $z \in L[\zeta]$, $z \subseteq \omega \times \omega$, $p \in \mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright z$, φ is a closed formula in \mathcal{L}_{z} .
- (F2) If $U \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega}$, $z \in \mathbf{L}[\zeta]$, $z \subseteq \omega \times \omega$, $p \in \mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright z$, and $\alpha, \beta, \gamma < \Omega$, then: $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \alpha + \beta = \gamma$ iff in fact $x^{0} + y^{0} = z^{0}$, and the same for the formulas $\alpha + \beta = \gamma$ and $p(\alpha, \beta) = \gamma$.
- (F3) If U, p, z are as above, $\alpha < \Omega$, $Y \in \mathbf{Nam}^{z}_{\zeta}$, then: $p \operatorname{forc}^{z}_{U} \alpha \in Y$ iff there exists a condition $q \in \mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright z$ such that $\langle q, \alpha \rangle \in Y$ and $p \leq q$.
- (F4) If *U*, *p*, *z* are as above, then: $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} (\varphi \land \psi)$ iff $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \varphi$ and $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \psi$.
- (F5) If *U*, *p*, *z* are as above, then $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \exists \alpha \varphi(\alpha)$ iff there is $\alpha < \Omega$ such that $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \varphi(\alpha)$.
- (F6) If U, p, z are as above, then $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \exists Y \varphi(Y)$ iff there exists a name $\tau \in \operatorname{Nam}_{\zeta}^{z}$ such that $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \varphi(Y)$.

We precede the last item with another definition. If $n < \omega$ then let $\mathbf{sDS}[n]$ be the set of all Ω -systems $U \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega}$ such that $U \upharpoonright^{< n} = \mathbb{U}_{\xi}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{< n}$ for some $\xi < \Omega^{\oplus}$. Thus $\mathbf{sDS}[0] = \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega}$.

(F8) If U, p, z are as in (F1), φ is a closed \mathcal{L}_z formula, $n = \#(\varphi)$, then $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^z \neg \varphi$ iff there is no Ω -system $U' \in \operatorname{sDS}[n]$ extending U, and no $q \in \mathbf{P}[U'] \upharpoonright z, q \leq p$, such that $q \operatorname{forc}_{U'}^z \varphi$.

Lemma 22 (in $L[\zeta]$). Let U, p, z, φ satisfy (F1) above. Then:

- (i) If p forc^{*z*}_{*U*} φ , $U' \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega}$ extends *U*, and $q \in \mathbf{P}[U'] \upharpoonright z, q \leq p$, then q forc^{*z*}_{*U'*} φ ;
- (ii) If $U \in \mathbf{sDS}[n]$, $\#(\varphi) \leq n$, and p forc^{*z*}_{*U*} φ , then p forc^{*z*}_{*U*} $\neg \varphi$ fails.

Proof. The proof of (i) by straightforward induction is elementary. As for (ii), make use of (F8). \Box

Now let us evaluate the complexity of the relation **forc**. Given a parameter free \mathcal{L} -formula $\varphi(\alpha, \beta, ..., X, Y, ...)$ with any set of free variables allowed in \mathcal{L} , we define, in $L[\zeta]$, the set:

$$\operatorname{Forc}(\varphi) = \{ \langle z, U, p, \alpha, \beta, \dots, \tau_X, \tau_Y, \dots \rangle : U \in \operatorname{sDS}_{\Omega} \land z \subseteq \omega \times \omega \\ \land p \in \mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright z \land \alpha, \beta, \dots < \Omega \land \tau_X, \tau_Y, \dots \in \operatorname{Nam}_{\zeta}^z \\ \land p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^z \varphi(\alpha, \beta, \dots, \tau_X, \tau_Y, \dots) \}.$$

Lemma 23 (in $L[\zeta]$). If φ is a parameter free \mathcal{L} -formula and $n = \#(\varphi)$, then $Forc(\varphi)$ is $\Sigma_{n+3}^{\mathbb{H}[\zeta]}$.

Proof. The set \mathbf{sDS}_{Ω} is $\Delta_3^{\mathbb{H}}$ by Lemma 17, and hence $\Delta_3^{\mathbb{H}[\zeta]}$ as well by Theorem 5(i) in Section 2.6. The relations $p \in \mathbf{P}[U] | z$, $\alpha < \Omega$, $\tau \in \mathbf{Nam}_{\zeta}^z$, with arguments resp. $p, U, z; \alpha; \tau, z$, are routinely checked to be $\Delta_3^{\mathbb{H}[\zeta]}$, too. (Note that bounded quantifiers preserve $\Delta_3^{\mathbb{H}[\zeta]}$.) After this remark, prove the lemma by induction on the structure of φ .

The case of atomic formulas of type (F2) is immediately clear. (The pairing function $\mathbb{P} \upharpoonright (\mathbb{O} \times \mathbb{O})$ in (F2) is $\Delta_1^{\mathbb{H}}$ by Lemma 3.) The result for atomic formulas of type (F3) amounts to the formula $\exists q \in *\mathbf{P}_{\mathbb{O}} \upharpoonright z (\langle q, \alpha \rangle \in Y \land p \leq q)$, which is $\Sigma_3^{\mathbb{H}[\zeta]}$ by the above. The step (F4) amounts to the intersection of two sets is quite obvious. And so are steps (F5) and (F6) (a \exists -quantification on the top of a given $\Sigma_{\#(\varphi)+3}^{\mathbb{H}[\zeta]}$).

To carry out the step (F8), note that $\mathbf{sDS}[n]$ is $\Sigma_{n+3}^{\mathbb{H}}$ by Lemma 20, therefore $\Sigma_{n+3}^{\mathbb{H}[\zeta]}$ by Theorem 5(i) in Section 2.6. This if $\mathbf{Forc}(\varphi)$ is $\Sigma_{n+3}^{\mathbb{H}[\zeta]}$ then $\mathbf{Forc}(\neg \varphi)$ is $\Pi_{n+3}^{\mathbb{H}[\zeta]}$, hence $\Sigma_{n+4}^{\mathbb{H}[\zeta]}$, as required. \Box

5.3. Consequences for the Complete Forcing Notions

We continue to argue under the assumptions and notation of Definitions 7 on page 22 and 8 on page 25. Coming back to the sequence of Ω -systems $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\xi} \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega}$ given by Definition 7, we note that every Ω -system $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\xi}$ belongs to $\bigcap_{m} \mathbf{sDS}[m]$.

every Ω -system $\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\xi}$ belongs to $\bigcap_m \mathbf{sDS}[m]$. Let \mathbf{forc}^z_{ξ} be $\mathbf{forc}^z_{\mathbb{U}^{\Omega}_{\xi}}$, and let p $\mathbf{forc}^z_{\infty} \varphi$ mean: $\exists \xi < \Omega^{\oplus} (p \ \mathbf{forc}^z_{\xi} \varphi)$. Note that $p \ \mathbf{forc}^z_{\xi} \varphi$ implies $p \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}_{\xi} \upharpoonright z$, whereas $p \ \mathbf{forc}^z_{\infty} \varphi$ implies $p \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}_{\xi} \upharpoonright z$. Lemma 22 takes the following form:

Lemma 24 (in $L[\zeta]$). Assume that $z \subseteq \omega \times \omega$, φ is a closed \mathcal{L}_z formula, $p \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$. Then:

- (i) If $p \operatorname{forc}_{\xi}^{z} \varphi$ and $\xi \leq \eta < \Omega^{\oplus}$, $q \in \mathbb{P}_{\eta}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$, $q \leq p$, then $q \operatorname{forc}_{\eta}^{z} \varphi$, and accordingly, if $p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \varphi$ and $q \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$, $q \leq p$, then $q \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \varphi$;
- (ii) $p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \varphi$ and $p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \neg \varphi$ contradict to each other.

The following result will be very important.

Lemma 25 (in $L[\zeta]$). If $z \subseteq \omega \times \omega$, φ is a closed \mathcal{L}_z formula, $p \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$, then there is a condition $q \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$, $q \leq p$, such that either q forc^{*z*}_{∞} φ , or q forc^{*z*}_{∞} $\neg \varphi$.

Proof. Let $n = #(\varphi)$. There is an ordinal $\eta < \Omega^{\oplus}$ such that $p \in \mathbb{P}_{\eta}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$. Consider the set D of all Ω -systems $U' \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq n}$ such that there is a Ω -system $U \in \mathbf{sDS}[n]$ that extends $\mathbb{U}_{\eta}^{\Omega}$ and satisfies $U \upharpoonright^{\geq n} = U'$, and there is also a condition $q \in \mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright z$, $q \leq p$, satisfying $q \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \varphi$. The set D belongs to $\Sigma_{n+3}(\mathbb{H}[\zeta])$ (with $\mathbb{U}_{\eta}^{\Omega}, \mathbb{V}_{\eta}^{\Omega}$, p as definability parameters) by Lemma 23. Therefore by Lemma 19 there is an ordinal ξ , $\eta \leq \xi < \Omega^{\oplus}$, such that the Ω -system $\mathbb{U}_{\xi}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq n} n$ -solves D. We have two cases.

there is an ordinal $\xi, \eta \leq \xi < \Omega^{\oplus}$, such that the Ω -system $\bigcup_{\xi}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq n} n$ -solves D. We have two cases. *Case 1*: $\bigcup_{\zeta}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq m} \in D$. Then there exist: a Ω -system $U \in \mathbf{sDS}[n]$ extending \bigcup_{η}^{Ω} and satisfying $U \upharpoonright^{\geq n} = \bigcup_{\zeta}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq n}$, and a condition $q \in \mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright z, q \leq p$, with $q \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \varphi$. By definition there is an ordinal $\vartheta < \Omega^{\oplus}$ such that $U \upharpoonright^{< n} = \bigcup_{\vartheta}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{< n}$. Now let $\mu = \max{\xi, \vartheta}$. Then $U \preccurlyeq \bigcup_{\mu}^{\Omega}$, hence $q \operatorname{forc}_{\mu}^{z} \varphi$ and $q \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \varphi$.

Case 2: There is no Ω -system $U \in D$ that extends $\bigcup_{\xi}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq n}$. Prove that $p \operatorname{forc}_{\xi}^{z} \neg \varphi$. Suppose towards the contrary that this fails. Then, by (F8) in Section 5.2, there exists a Ω -system $U \in \operatorname{sDS}[n]$ extending \bigcup_{ξ}^{Ω} , and a condition $q \in \mathbf{P}[U]$, $q \leq p$, such that $q \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \varphi$. Define $U' = U \upharpoonright^{\geq n}$. Then by definition the Ω -system U' belongs to $\operatorname{sDS}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright^{\geq n}$, and moreover the Ω -system U witnesses that $U' \in D$. But this contradicts the Case 2 assumption. \Box

5.4. Truth Lemma

According to the next theorem ("the truth lemma"), the truth in the generic extensions considered is connected in the usual way with the relation \mathbf{forc}_{∞} . We continue to argue under the assumptions and notation of Definitions 7 on page 22 and 8 on page 25.

Theorem 10. Assume that $z = w[\zeta]$ and φ is a \mathcal{L}_z -formula. Then $\varphi[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ is true in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ iff there is a condition $p \in \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z$ such that $p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^z \varphi$.

Proof. We proceed by induction. Suppose that φ is an atomic formula of type (F3) of Section 5.2. (The case of formulas as in (F2) is pretty elementary.) To prove the implication \Leftarrow , assume that $p \in \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z$ and $p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \alpha \in \tau$, where $\alpha < \Omega$ and $\tau \in \operatorname{Nam}_{\zeta}^{z}$. Then by definition ((F3) in Section 5.2) there exists a condition $q \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$ satisfying $p \leq q$ and $\langle q, \alpha \rangle \in \tau$. There are conditions $p', q' \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}$ such that $p = p' \upharpoonright z$ and $q = q' \upharpoonright z$, but not necessarily $p' \leq q'$. We only know that $p'(n,i) \leq q'(n,i)$ for all $\langle n, i \rangle \in z$. Therefore $z \subseteq Z = \{\langle n, i \rangle : p'(n,i) \leq q'(n,i)\}$. The set Z belongs to \mathbf{L} since so do p', q' as elements of $\mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \in \mathbf{L}$ (whereas about z we only assert that $z \in \mathbf{L}[\zeta]$). Therefore a condition $q'' \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}$ can be defined by:

$$q''(n,i) = \begin{cases} q(n,i), & \text{in case} \quad \langle n,i \rangle \in Z, \\ p(n,i), & \text{in case} \quad \langle n,i \rangle \notin Z, \end{cases}$$

and we still have $q'' \upharpoonright z = q' \upharpoonright z$ and $p' \leq q''$. It follows that $q'' \in \mathbf{G}$ by genericity, hence $q'' \upharpoonright z = q' \upharpoonright z \in \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z$. But then $\alpha \in \tau[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$, as required.

To prove the converse, assume that $\alpha \in \tau[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright \mathbf{z}]$. There exists a condition $p \in \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright \mathbf{z}$ such that $\langle q, \alpha \rangle \in \tau$, and we have p forc^{*z*}_{∞} $\alpha \in \tau$, as required.

Rather simple inductive steps (F4), (F5) of Section 5.2 are left for the reader.

Let us carry out step (F6). Let $\varphi := \exists X \psi(X)$. Suppose that $p \in \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z$ and $p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \varphi$. By definition there exists a name $\tau \in \operatorname{Nam}_{\zeta}^{z}$ such that $p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \psi(\tau)$. The formula $\psi(\tau)[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ is then true in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ by the inductive hypothesis. But $\psi(\tau)[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ coincides with $\psi[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z](Y)$, where $Y = \tau[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z] \in \mathbf{L}[\zeta, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$, $Y \subseteq \mathbb{O}$. We conclude that $\exists X \psi(X)[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ is true in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$, as required.

To prove the converse, let $\varphi[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$, that is, $\exists X \psi(X)[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$, be true in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$. As X is relativized to $\mathscr{P}(\Omega)$, there is a set $X \in \mathscr{P}(\Omega)$ in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ satisfying $\varphi(X)[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$. By Lemma 21, there is a name $\tau \in \mathbf{Nam}_{\zeta}^z$ with $X = \tau[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$, so $\psi(\tau)[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ holds in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$. The inductive hypothesis implies that some $p \in \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z$ satisfies $p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^z \psi(\tau)$, hence $p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^z \varphi$, as required.

Finally, let us carry out step (F8), which is somewhat less trivial. Prove the lemma for a \mathcal{L}_z formula $\neg \varphi$, assuming that the result holds for φ . If $\neg \varphi[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ is false in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, \mathbf{G}]$ then $\varphi[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ is true. Thus by the inductive hypothesis, there is a condition $p \in \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z$ such that $p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \varphi$. Then $q \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \neg \varphi$ for any $q \in \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z$ is impossible by Lemma 24 above.

Conversely suppose that $p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \neg \varphi$ holds for no $p \in \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z$. Then by Lemma 25 there exists $q \in \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z$ such that $q \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \varphi$. It follows that $\varphi[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ is true by the inductive hypothesis, therefore $\varphi[\mathbf{G} \upharpoonright z]$ is false. \Box

6. Invariance

The goal of this section is to prove Theorem 9 on page 24, and thereby accomplish the proof of Theorem 8, and the proof of Theorem 2 (the main theorem) itself. The proof makes use of the relation **forc** introduced in Section 5, and exploits certain symmetries in **forc**, investigated in Section 6.5.

6.1. Hidden Invariance

Theorem 9 belongs to a wide group of results on the structure of generic models which assert that such-and-such elements of a given generic extension belong to a smaller and/or better shaped extension. One of possible methods to prove such results is to exploit the homogeneity of the forcing notion considered, or in different words, its invariance w.r.t. a sufficiently large system of order-preserving transformations. In particular, for a straightforward proof of Theorem 11 below, which is our key technical step in the proof of Theorem 9, the invariance of the forcing notion \mathbb{P}^{Ω} under permutations of indices in $\mathcal{I} = \omega \times \omega$ (to permute areas z and \hat{z}) would be naturally required, whereas \mathbb{P}^{Ω} is definitely not invariant w.r.t. permutations.

On the other hand, the auxiliary forcing relation **forc** is invariant w.r.t. permutations. Theorem 10 in Section 5.4 conveniently binds the relation **forc** with the truth in \mathbb{P}^{Ω} -generic extensions by means of a forcing-style association. This principal association was based on the \mathbb{M} -completeness property (Definition 7 on page 22 and Theorem 6). Basically it occurs that some transformations, that is, permutations, are *hidden* in construction of \mathbb{P}^{Ω} , so that they do not act explicitly, but their influence is preserved and can be recovered via the relation **forc**.

This method of *hidden invariance*, that is, invariance properties (of an auxiliary forcing-type relation like **forc**) hidden in \mathbb{P}^{Ω} by a suitable generic-style construction of \mathbb{P}^{Ω} , was introduced in Harrington's notes [22] in in the context of the almost disjoint forcing (in a somewhat different terminology from what is used here). It was introduced independently by one of the authors in [37] in the context of the Sacks forcing and its Jensen's modification in [38]; see e.g., [3,28,39] for further research in this direction based on product and iterated versions of the Sacks and Jensen forcing earlier studied in detail in [40–47].

6.2. The Invariance Theorem

We still argue under the assumptions and notation of Definitions 7 on page 22 and 8 on page 25. Let Π be the group of all *finite permutations* of ω , that is, all bijections $\pi : \omega \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \omega$ since the set $|\pi| = \{k : \pi(k) \neq k\}$ is finite. If $m < \omega$ then the subgroup Π_m consists of all $\pi \in \Pi$ satisfying $\pi(k) = k$ for all k < m. If $\pi \in \Pi$, and $z \subseteq \omega \times \omega$ then put $\pi z = \{\langle \pi(n), i \rangle : \langle n, i \rangle \in z\}$.

If in addition $g: \omega \to \Xi$ then define $\pi g: \omega \to \Xi$ by $\pi g(\pi(n)) = g(n)$, all n.

Similarly if $e \in \mathbb{C}$ and $|\pi| \subseteq \ln e$, then define $e' = \pi e \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $\ln e' = \ln e$ and $e'(\pi(n)) = e(n)$ for all $n < \ln e$. The following is the invariance theorem.

Theorem 11 (in $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$). Assume that $\boldsymbol{z} = \boldsymbol{w}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$, $\pi \in \Pi_m$, $\boldsymbol{z}' = \pi \boldsymbol{z}$, φ is a closed parameter free formula of $\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{z}}$, $\#(\varphi) \leq m$, and $p_0 \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega}$. Then $p_0 \upharpoonright \boldsymbol{z}$ forc^{\boldsymbol{z}}_{∞} $\neg \varphi$ iff $p_0 \upharpoonright \boldsymbol{z}'$ forc^{\boldsymbol{z}'}_{∞} $\neg \varphi$.

A lengthy proof of Theorem 11 follows below in this Section.

6.3. Proof of Theorem 9 from the Invariance Theorem

Under the assumptions of Theorem 9, consider an arbitrary set $a \in \mathbf{L}[\zeta, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]$, $a \subseteq \omega$, and assume that $\mathbb{M} \geq 2$ (see Definition 8) and it is true in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright w[\zeta]]$ that *a* is parameter free definable in $\langle \mathscr{P}(\Omega); \epsilon, \mathbb{p} \rangle$, i.e., $a = \{j < \omega : \neg \varphi(j)\}$, where $\varphi(\cdot)$ is a parameter free \mathcal{L}_z -formula. Let $m = \#(\varphi)$ and $w = w[\zeta]$. The goal is to prove that $a \in \mathbf{L}[\mathbf{G}]$. This is based on the next lemma.

Lemma 26. The set $T = \{ \langle p, j \rangle : p \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \land p \upharpoonright w \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{w} \neg \varphi(j) \}$ belongs to L.

Proof. Note that, by Lemma 23, the set:

$$K = \{ \langle z, p, j \rangle : p \in \mathbb{P}^{\Omega} \land z \in \mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}] \land z \subseteq \omega \times \omega \land j < \omega \land p \upharpoonright z \mathbf{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \neg \varphi(j) \}$$

is definable in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta]$ by a formula with sets in \mathbf{L} as parameters, say $K = \{\langle z, p, j \rangle : \vartheta(z, p, j, S)\}$ in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta]$, where $S \in \mathbf{L}$ is a sole parameter. Recall that $\zeta \in \Xi^{\omega}$ is \mathbb{C} -generic over \mathbf{L} , and $w = w[\zeta] = \{\langle n, j \rangle : j \in \zeta(n)\}$. Let ζ be a canonical \mathbb{C} -name for ζ , and \Vdash be the \mathbb{C} -forcing relation over \mathbf{L} . We claim that:

$$\vartheta(w, p, j, S)$$
 holds in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta]$ iff $\zeta \upharpoonright m \Vdash \vartheta(w[\zeta], p, j, S)$; (10)

 $\zeta \upharpoonright m$ belongs to \mathbb{C} , of course. The direction \Leftarrow is obvious.

To establish \implies , assume that the right-hand side fails. Then there is a condition $e_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $\zeta \upharpoonright m \subseteq e_0$ and $e_0 \Vdash \neg \vartheta(w[\zeta], p, j, S)$. We note that the set:

$$D = \{ e \in \mathbb{C} : \zeta \upharpoonright m \subseteq e \land \exists \pi \in \Pi_m (|\pi| \subseteq \operatorname{dom} e \land e_0 \subseteq \pi e) \}$$

is dense in \mathbb{C} over $\zeta \upharpoonright m$. Therefore, by the genericity of ζ , there exists a number k > m such that $e = \zeta \upharpoonright k \in D$. Accordingly, there is a permutation $\pi \in \Pi_m$ satisfying $|\pi| \subseteq k$ and $e_0 \subseteq \pi e$.

We put $\zeta' = \pi \zeta$; this is still a \mathbb{C} -generic element of Ξ^{ω} , with $\mathbf{L}[\zeta'] = \mathbf{L}[\zeta]$ since $\pi \in \mathbf{L}$, and we have $e_0 \subseteq \pi e \subset \zeta'$. It follows, by the choice of e_0 , that $\vartheta(w[\zeta'], p, j, S)$ fails in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta'] = \mathbf{L}[\zeta]$, and hence $\langle w[\zeta'], p, j \rangle \notin K$ by the choice of ϑ . However $w[\zeta'] = \pi \cdot w[\zeta] = \pi w$, thus we have $\langle \pi w, p, j \rangle \notin K$.

We conclude that $p \upharpoonright \pi w \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{\pi w} \neg \varphi(j)$ *fails* by the definition of *K*. Therefore $p \upharpoonright w \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{w} \neg \varphi(j)$ *fails* as well by Theorem 11, so we have $\langle w, p, j \rangle \notin K$, and hence $\vartheta(w, p, j, S)$ fails in $\mathbf{L}[\zeta'] = \mathbf{L}[\zeta]$, as required. This completes the proof of (10). Now, coming back to the lemma, we deduce the equality $T = \{\langle p, j \rangle \in \mathbf{L} : \zeta \upharpoonright m \Vdash \vartheta(w[\zeta], p, j, S)\}$ from (10). This implies $T \in \mathbf{L}$. \Box

It remains to notice that, by Theorem 10,

$$j \in a \iff \mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}, \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright \boldsymbol{w}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]] \models \neg \varphi(j) \iff \exists p \in \mathbf{G} \upharpoonright \boldsymbol{w}(p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{\boldsymbol{w}} \neg \varphi(j))$$
$$\iff \exists p \in \mathbf{G} (p \upharpoonright \boldsymbol{w} \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{\boldsymbol{w}} \neg \varphi(j)).$$

Therefore $j \in a \iff \exists p \in \mathbf{G}(\langle p, j \rangle \in T)$. But $T \in \mathbf{L}$ by Lemma 26. We conclude that $a \in \mathbf{L}[\mathbf{G}]$, as required.

This completes the proof of Theorem 9 from Theorem 11.

6.4. The Invariance Theorem: Setup

We still argue under the assumptions and notation of Definitions 7 on page 22 and 8 on page 25. Here we begin **the proof of Theorem 11**. It will be completed in Section 6.6.

We fix m, $\pi \in \Pi_m$, p_0 , $z = w[\zeta]$, $\hat{z} = \pi z$, and φ with $\#(\varphi) \le m$, as in Theorem 11. Suppose towards the contrary that $p_0 \upharpoonright \hat{z} \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{\hat{z}} \neg \varphi$, but $p_0 \upharpoonright z \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \neg \varphi$ fails. By definition there is an ordinal $\mu < \Omega^{\oplus}$ such that $p_0 \upharpoonright \hat{z} \operatorname{forc}_{\mu}^{\hat{z}} \neg \varphi$, but $p_0 \upharpoonright z \operatorname{forc}_{\mu}^{z} \neg \varphi$ fails. Then we have:

(A) a \mathbb{O} -system $U^1 \in \mathbf{sDS}[m]$ with $\mathbb{U}^{\mathbb{O}}_{\mu} \preccurlyeq U^1$, and a condition $p_1 \in \mathbf{P}[U^1]$, $p_1 \leqslant p_0$, such that $p_1 \upharpoonright \mathbf{z} \operatorname{forc}_{U^1}^{\mathbf{z}} \varphi$, but $p_1 \upharpoonright \mathbf{\hat{z}} \operatorname{forc}_{U^1}^{\widehat{\mathbf{z}}} \neg \varphi$ still holds by Lemma 22.

We now recall that any condition $p \in {}^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ is a map $p \in \mathbf{L}$, defined on $\mathcal{I} = \omega \times \omega$, and each value $p(n,i) = \langle \mathbf{S}_p(n,i); \mathbf{F}_p(n,i) \rangle$ is a pair of a set $\mathbf{S}_p(n,i) \subseteq \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega}$ and $\mathbf{F}_p(n,i) \subseteq \mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega}$, with card $(\mathbf{S}_p(n,i) \cup \mathbf{F}_p(n,i)) < \Omega$ strictly, in **L**. We define the *support*:

$$||p|| = \bigcup_{n,i<\omega} ||p||_{ni}, \text{ where } ||p||_{ni} = \{s(0): s \in \mathbf{S}_p(n,i)\} \cup \{f(0): f \in \mathbf{F}_p(n,i)\};$$

then $||p|| \in L$, $||p|| \subseteq \Omega$, and card $||p|| < \Omega$ strictly, so that ||p|| is a bounded subset of Ω . In particular, $||p_1||$ is a bounded subset of Ω in L. Therefore there is:

(B) A bijection $b \in \mathbf{L}$, $b : \Omega \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \Omega$, such that $||p_1|| \cap (b'' ||p_1||) = \emptyset$ and $b = b^{-1}$.

Furthermore, as $U^1 \in \mathbf{sDS}[m]$, the Ω -system U^1 is Ω -size, and hence the set $J = \bigcup_{n,i < \omega} U^1(n,i) \in \mathbf{L}$ satisfies card $J \leq \Omega$ in \mathbf{L} . It follows that there exists:

(C) A sequence $\{F_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha < \Omega} \in \mathbf{L}$ of bijections $F_{\alpha} : \Omega \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \Omega$, such that $F_0 = b$ (see above), $F_{\alpha} = F_{\alpha}^{-1}$, and if $f, g \in J$ then there is an ordinal $\alpha < \Omega$ such that $f(\alpha) \neq F_{\alpha}(g(\alpha))$.

6.5. Transformation

In continuation of **the proof of Theorem 11**, we now define an automorphism acting on several different domains in **L**. It will be based on π and F_{α} of Section 6.4 and its action will be denoted by $\hat{}$. Along the way we will formulate properties (D)–(H) of the automorphism, a routine check of which is left to the reader.

We argue under the assumptions and notation of Definitions 7 on page 22 and 8 on page 25.

If $\alpha \leq \Omega$ and $f : \alpha \to \Omega$ then $\hat{f} : \alpha \to \Omega$ is defined by $\hat{f}(\gamma) = F_{\gamma}(f(\gamma))$ for all $\gamma < \alpha$. In particular, $\hat{f}(0) = F_0(f(0)) = b(f(0))$. This defines $\hat{s} \in \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega}$ and $\hat{f} \in \mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega}$ for all $s \in \mathbf{Seq}_{\Omega}$ and $f \in \mathbf{Fun}_{\Omega}$.

(D) $f \mapsto \widehat{f}$ is a bijection $\operatorname{Seq}_{\Omega} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{onto}} \operatorname{Seq}_{\Omega}$ and $\operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{onto}} \operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega}$, and if $f, g \in J = \bigcup_{n,i < \omega} U^{1}(n,i)$ then $\widehat{f} \neq g$ by (C).

If $u \subseteq \operatorname{Fun}_{\Omega}$ then let $\hat{u} = \{\hat{f} : f \in u\}$. If $S \subseteq \operatorname{Seq}_{\Omega}$ then let $\hat{S} = \{\hat{s} : s \in S\}$. If *U* is a Ω -system then define a Ω -system \hat{U} , such that:

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{U}(n,i) &= U(n,i), & \text{ in case } n < m; \\ \widehat{U}(\pi(n),i) &= \widehat{U(n,i)} = \{\widehat{f} : f \in U(n,i)\}, & \text{ in case } n \ge m. \end{aligned}$$

If $p \in {}^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ then let $\widehat{p} \in {}^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ be defined so that:

$$\widehat{p}(n,i) = p(n,i), \quad \text{in case} \quad n < m; \widehat{p}(\pi(n),i) = \langle \widehat{\mathbf{S}_p(n,i)}; \widehat{\mathbf{F}_p(n,i)} \rangle, \quad \text{in case} \quad n \ge m;$$

where $\widehat{\mathbf{S}_p(n,i)} = \{\widehat{s}: s \in \mathbf{S}_p(n,i)\}$ and $\widehat{\mathbf{F}_p(n,i)} = \{\widehat{s}: s \in \mathbf{F}_p(n,i)\}$ by the above. These are consistent definitions because $\pi \in \Pi_m$.

- (E) $\hat{U} \upharpoonright^{\leq m} = U \upharpoonright^{\leq m}$ for any Ω -system U. The map $U \mapsto \hat{U}$ is a bijection of \mathbf{sDS}_{Ω} onto itself and $\mathbf{sDS}[k]$ onto itself for any $k \leq m$.
- (F) $\hat{p} \upharpoonright^{< m} = p \upharpoonright^{< m}$ for any $p \in *\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$. The map $p \mapsto \hat{p}$ is a \leqslant -preserving bijection of $\mathbf{P}[U]$ onto $\mathbf{P}[\hat{U}]$.

If in addition $z \subseteq \omega \times \omega$ (not necessarily $z \in \mathbf{L}$), then if conditions $p, q \in {}^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ satisfy $p \upharpoonright z = q \upharpoonright z$, then easily $\hat{p} \upharpoonright \hat{z} = \hat{q} \upharpoonright \hat{z}$, where $\hat{z} = \pi \cdot z = \{ \langle \pi(n), i \rangle : \langle n, i \rangle \in z \}$. This allows us to define $\hat{r} = \hat{p} \upharpoonright \hat{z}$ for every $r \in {}^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$, where $p \in {}^*\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$ is any condition satisfying $r = p \upharpoonright z$.

(G) If $z \subseteq \omega \times \omega$ then $p \mapsto \hat{p}$ is a \leq -preserving bijection of $\mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright z$ onto $\mathbf{P}[\hat{U}] \upharpoonright \hat{z}$.

If $z \subseteq \omega \times \omega$ and $\tau \in \operatorname{Nam}_{\zeta}^{z}$ (see Section 5.1) then we define $\widehat{\tau} = \{\langle \widehat{p}, \alpha \rangle : \langle p, \alpha \rangle \in \tau\}$, and accordingly if φ is a \mathcal{L}_{z} -formula then $\widehat{\varphi}$ is obtained by substituting $\widehat{\tau}$ for each name τ in φ .

(H) If $z \subseteq \omega \times \omega$, $z \in \mathbf{L}[\zeta]$, then the mapping $\tau \mapsto \hat{\tau}$ is a bijection of $\operatorname{Nam}_{\zeta}^{z}$ onto $\operatorname{Nam}_{\zeta}^{\hat{z}}$ and a bijection of \mathcal{L}_{z} -formulas onto $\mathcal{L}_{\hat{z}}$ -formulas.

Remark 6. The action of $\widehat{}$ is idempotent, so that e.g., $\widehat{f} = f$ for any $f \in \operatorname{Fun}_{\mathbb{N}}$ etc. This is because we require that $b^{-1} = b$ and $F_{\alpha}^{-1} = F_{\alpha}$ for all $\alpha < \mathbb{N}$.

The action of $\widehat{}$ is constructible on \mathbf{Seq}_{Ω} , \mathbf{Fun}_{Ω} , Ω -systems, $^{*}\mathbf{P}_{\Omega}$, since both π and the sequence of maps F_{α} belong to \mathbf{L} by (B), (C).

If $z \in L[\zeta]$ then the action of $\widehat{}$ on $*P_{\Omega} \upharpoonright z$ and names in $\operatorname{Nam}_{\zeta}^z$ belongs to $L[\zeta]$, since the extra parameter $z \in L[\zeta]$ does not necessarily belong to L.

It is not unusual that transformations of a forcing notion considered lead to this or another invariance. The next lemma is exactly of this type.

Lemma 27 (in $\mathbf{L}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$). Assume that $U \in \mathbf{sDS}_{\Omega}$, $\boldsymbol{z} = \boldsymbol{w}[\boldsymbol{\zeta}]$, $\pi \in \Pi_m$, $\hat{\boldsymbol{z}} = \pi \boldsymbol{z}$, $p \in \mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright \boldsymbol{z}$, and φ is a closed formula of $\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{z}}$, $\#(\varphi) \leq m+1$. Then p forc $_{U}^{\boldsymbol{z}} \Phi$ iff \hat{p} forc $_{\widehat{\Omega}}^{\hat{\boldsymbol{z}}} \hat{\Phi}$.

Proof. We argue by induction on the structure of Φ . Routine cases of atomic formulas (F2) and steps (F4) and (F5) of Section 5.2 by means of (D)–(H) are left to the reader. Thus we concentrate on atomic formulas of type (F3) and steps (F6) and (F8) in Section 5.2. In all cases we take care of only one

direction of the equivalence of the lemma, as the other direction is entirely similar via Remark 6 just above.

Formulas of type (F3). Let Φ be $\alpha \in \tau$, where $\alpha < \Omega$ and $\tau \in \operatorname{Nam}_{\zeta}^{z}$. Assume that p forc^{*z*}_{*U*} $\alpha \in \tau$. Then by definition there is a condition $q \in \mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright z$ such that $p \leq q$ and $\langle q, \alpha \rangle \in \tau$. Then \hat{q} and \hat{p} belong to $\mathbf{P}[\hat{U}] \upharpoonright \hat{z}$, $\hat{p} \leq \hat{q}$, and $\langle \hat{q}, \alpha \rangle \in \hat{\tau}$, so we have \hat{p} forc^{$\hat{z}}_{<math>\hat{U}$} $\alpha \in \hat{\tau}$, as required.</sup>

Step (F6). Let $\Phi := \exists X \Psi(X)$. Suppose that $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \Phi$. By definition there exists a name $\tau \in \operatorname{Nam}_{\zeta}^{z}$ such that $p \operatorname{forc}_{\infty}^{z} \Psi(\tau)$, Then we have $\hat{p} \operatorname{forc}_{\widehat{U}}^{\widehat{z}} \Psi(\tau)$ by the inductive hypothesis. But $\widehat{\Psi(\tau)}$ coincides with $\widehat{\Psi}(\widehat{\tau})$, where $\widehat{\tau} \in \operatorname{Nam}_{\zeta}^{\widehat{z}}$ by (H) above. We conclude that $\widehat{p} \operatorname{forc}_{\widehat{U}}^{\widehat{z}} \exists X \widehat{\Psi(X)}$, that is, $\widehat{p} \operatorname{forc}_{\widehat{U}}^{\widehat{z}} \widehat{\Phi}$, as required.

Step (F8). Prove the lemma for a \mathcal{L}_z formula $\Phi := \neg \Psi$, assuming that the result holds for Ψ . Note that $\#(\Phi) \leq m + 1$, hence $\#(\Psi) \leq m$. Suppose that $p \operatorname{forc}_{U}^{z} \neg \Psi$ fails. By definition there is a Ω -system $U' \in \operatorname{sDS}[m]$ extending U', and a condition $q \in \mathbf{P}[U'] \upharpoonright z$, $q \leq p$, such that $q \operatorname{forc}_{U'}^{z} \Psi$. Then $\hat{q} \operatorname{forc}_{\widehat{U'}}^{\hat{z}} \Psi$ by the inductive hypothesis. Yet $\widehat{U'}$ belongs to $\operatorname{sDS}_{\Omega}$, extends \hat{U} , and satisfies $\widehat{U'} \upharpoonright^{\leq m} = U' \upharpoonright^{\leq m}$ by (E), hence belonging even to $\operatorname{sDS}[m]$ by the choice of U', and in addition $\hat{q} \in \mathbf{P}[\widehat{U'}] \upharpoonright \hat{z}$ and $\hat{q} \leq \hat{p}$ by (F). We conclude, by definition, that $\hat{p} \operatorname{forc}_{\widehat{U}}^{\hat{z}} \neg \Psi$ fails too, as required. \Box

6.6. Finalization

We continue to argue under the assumptions and notation of Definitions 6 on page 20 and 8 on page 25. The goal of this Section is to accomplish the proof of Theorem 11 in Section 6.2 that was started in Section 6.4. We return to objects introduced in (A), (B), (C) of Section 6.2.

Let $q_1 = p_1 \upharpoonright z$, so that $q_1 \in \mathbf{P}[U^1] \upharpoonright z$ and $q_1 \operatorname{forc}_{U^1}^z \varphi$ by (A). We have:

$$\widehat{U^{1}} \in \mathbf{sDS}[m] \land \widehat{p_{1}} \in \mathbf{P}[\widehat{U^{1}}] \land \widehat{q_{1}} = \widehat{p_{1}} \upharpoonright \widehat{z} \in \mathbf{P}[\widehat{U^{1}}] \upharpoonright \widehat{z} \land \widehat{q_{1}} \mathbf{forc}_{\widehat{U^{1}}}^{\widehat{z}} \varphi$$
(11)

by Lemma 27. (Here φ , as a parameter free formula, coincides with $\widehat{\varphi}$.) Let a Ω -system U be defined by $U(n,i) = U^1(n,i) \cup \widehat{U^1}(n,i)$.

Lemma 28. The Ω -system U belongs to $\mathbf{sDS}[m]$ and extends both U^1 and U^1 . Conditions p_1 and $\hat{p_1}$ belong to $\mathbf{P}[U]$ and are compatible in $\mathbf{P}[U]$.

Proof (Lemma). It follows by (D) (last claim) that U is a disjoint Ω -system. It follows by (E) that $U \upharpoonright^{< m} = U^1 \upharpoonright^{< m} = \widehat{U^1} \upharpoonright^{< m}$. Therefore U belongs to sDS[m] because so does U^1 .

To prove compatibility, it suffices to check that if $n, i < \omega$ then either $p_1(n, i) = \hat{p_1}(n, i)$ or $||p_1||_{ni} \cap ||\hat{p_1}||_{ni} = \emptyset$. If n < m then we have the 'either' case because by definition $p_1 \upharpoonright^{<m} = \hat{p_1} \upharpoonright^{<m}$. Suppose that $n \ge m$. Let $k = \pi^{-1}(n)$; thus still $k \ge m$ (as $\pi \in \Pi_m$), $n = \pi(k)$, and $\hat{p_1}(n, i) = \langle \widehat{S_p(k,i)}; \widehat{F_p(k,i)} \rangle$. It follows that $||\hat{p_1}||_{ni}$ is the F_0 -image, hence the *b*-image of the set $||p_1||_{ki}$. However $||p_1||_{ki} \cup ||p_1||_{ni} \subseteq ||p_1||$. We conclude that $||p_1||_{ni} \cap ||\hat{p_1}||_{ni} = \emptyset$ by Claim (B) of Section 6.4, as required. \Box

To finalize **the proof of Theorem 11**, let, by Lemma 28, $r \in \mathbf{P}[U] \upharpoonright \hat{z}$ satisfy both $r \leq p_1 \upharpoonright \hat{z}$ and $r \leq \hat{p}_1 \upharpoonright \hat{z} = \hat{q}_1$. However $\hat{q}_1 \operatorname{forc}_{\hat{U}^1}^{\hat{z}} \varphi$ by (11). We conclude that $r \operatorname{forc}_{\hat{U}}^{\hat{z}} \varphi$ by Lemma 28 and Lemma 22. On the other hand, $p_1 \upharpoonright \hat{z} \operatorname{forc}_{\hat{U}^1}^{\hat{z}} \neg \varphi$ by (A) of Section 6.4, therefore we have $r \operatorname{forc}_{\hat{U}}^{\hat{z}} \neg \varphi$. It remains to remind that $\#(\varphi) \leq m$ and $U \in \mathbf{sDS}[m]$ by Lemma 28—and we still get a contradiction by Lemma 22(ii). The contradiction completes the proof of Theorem 11.

Finalization.

Theorem 11 just proved implies Theorem 9, see Section 6.3.

Theorem 9 ends the proof of Theorem 8 of Section 4.6, see Remark 5 on page 24.

This completes the proof of Theorem 2, the main result of this paper, see Remark 4 on page 23.

7. Conclusions and Discussion

In this study, the method of almost-disjoint forcing was employed to the problem of getting a model of **ZFC** in which the set \mathbf{D}_{1m} of all reals, definable by a parameter free type-theoretic formula with the highest quantifier order not exceeding a given natural number $\mathbb{M} \ge 1$, belongs to $\mathbf{D}_{2\mathbb{M}}$, that is, it is itself definable by a formula of the same quantifier order. Moreover, we have $\mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}} = \mathbf{L} \cap \mathbb{R}$ in the model, that is, the set $\mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}}$ is equal to the set of all Gödel-constructible reals.

The problem of getting a model for $\mathbf{D}_{1\mathbb{M}} \in \mathbf{D}_{2\mathbb{M}}$ was posed in Alfred Tarski's article [18]. Its particular case $\mathbb{M} = 1$ (analytical definability), that is, the problem of getting models for $\mathbf{D}_{11} \in \mathbf{D}_{21}$, or stronger, $\mathbf{D}_{11} = \mathbf{L} \cap \mathbb{R}$, has been known since the early years of forcing, see e.g., problem 87 in Harvey Friedman's survey [21], and problems 3110, 3111, and 3112 in another early survey [20] by A. Mathias. As mentioned in [20,21], the particular case $\mathbb{M} = 1$ was solved by Leo Harrington, and a sketch of the proof, related to a model for $\Delta_3^1 = \mathbf{L} \cap \mathbb{R}$, can be found in Harrington's handwritten notes [22]. Our paper presents a full proof of the comprehensive result (Theorem 2) that finally solves the Tarski problem.

From this study, it is concluded that the hidden invariance technique (as outlined in Section 6.1) allows one to solve the problem by providing a generic extension of **L** in which the constructible reals are precisely the $D_{1\mathbb{M}}$ reals, for a chosen value $\mathbb{M} \ge 1$. The hidden invariance technique has also been applied in recent papers [3–5,28] for the problem of getting a set theoretic structure of this or another kind at a preselected projective level. We finish with a short list of related problems.

1. If $x \subseteq \omega$ then let $\mathbf{D}_{pm}(x)$ be the set of all objects of order p, definable by a formula with x as the only parameter, whose all quantified variables are over orders $\leq m$. (Compare to Definition 1 on page 2.) One may be interested in getting a model for:

$$\forall x \subseteq \omega \left(\mathbf{D}_{1m}(x) \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}(x), \text{ or stronger, } \mathbf{D}_{1m}(x) = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L} \right).$$
(12)

This is somewhat similar to Problem 87' in [21]: Find a model of:

ZFC + " for any reals *x*, *y*, we have:
$$x \in L[y] \implies x$$
 is Δ_3^1 in *y*". (13)

Problem (13) was known in the early years of forcing, see, e.g., problem 3111 in [20] or (3) in [23] (Section 6.1). Problem (13) was positively solved by René David [48,49], where the question is attributed to Harrington. The proof makes use of a tool known as David's trick, see S. D. Friedman [27] (Chapters 6, 8).

So far it is unknown whether the result of David [48] generalizes to higher projective classes Δ_n^1 , $n \ge 4$, or Δ_{ω}^1 , whether it can be strengthened towards \iff instead of \implies , and whether it can lead to an even partial solution of (12). This is a very interesting and perhaps difficult question.

2. Coming back to Harvey Friedman's Δ_n^1 problem of getting a model for the sentence:

the set
$$d_n = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \Delta_n^1$$
 is equal to $\mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$, (14)

(Section 1.2), it is clear that, unlike $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}$, if (14) holds for some $n \ge 3$ then it definitely fails for any $n' \ne n$. But we can try to weaken (14) to just:

$$d_n \in \Pi_n^1 \,, \tag{15}$$

and then ask whether there is a generic extension of **L** satisfying $\forall n (d_n \in \Pi_n^1)$. It holds by rather routine estimations that $d_1 \in \Pi_1^1 \setminus \Sigma_1^1$, $d_2 \in \Sigma_2^1 \setminus \Pi_2^1$, and if all reals are constructible then $d_n \in \Sigma_n^1 \setminus \Pi_n^1$ for all $n \geq 3$ as well, so Π_n^1 looks rather suitable in (15).

3. Recall that Theorem 2 implies the consistency of $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ for each particular $m \ge 1$.

But what about the consistency of the sentence " $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ holds for all $m \ge 1$ "? Perhaps a method developed in [50] can be useful to solve this problem.

4. It would be interesting to define a generic extension of L in which, for instance, $D_{1m} \in D_{2m}$ holds for all even $m \ge 1$ but fails for all odd $m \ge 1$, or vice versa.

Lemma 2 on page 8 presents a possible difficulty: If we have $\mathbf{D}_{1n} \in \mathbf{D}_{2n}$ for some $n \ge 1$ by means of the equality $\mathbf{D}_{1n} = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$, then $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ definitely *fails* for all m < n.

5. Another question considered by Tarski in [18] is related to the sets $\mathbf{D}_k = \bigcup_m \mathbf{D}_{km}$ (all elements of order k, definable by a formula of any order). Tarski proves that $\mathbf{D}_k \notin \mathbf{D}_{k+1}$ for all $k \ge 2$, and leaves open the question whether $\mathbf{D}_1 \in \mathbf{D}_2$. Similarly to the problem $\mathbf{D}_{1m} \in \mathbf{D}_{2m}$ in Section 1.1, the *negative* answer $\mathbf{D}_1 \notin \mathbf{D}_2$ follows from the axiom of constructibility $\mathbf{V} = \mathbf{L}$, and hence is consistent with **ZFC**.

Prove the consistency of the sentences $\mathbf{D}_1 \in \mathbf{D}_2$ and $\mathbf{D}_1 = \mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at http://www.mdpi.com/2227-7390/8/12/2214/s1.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, V.K. and V.L.; methodology, V.K. and V.L.; validation, V.K. and V.L.; formal analysis, V.K. and V.L.; investigation, V.K. and V.L.; writing original draft preparation, V.K.; writing review and editing, V.K.; project administration, V.L.; funding acquisition, V.L. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research RFBR grant number 18-29-13037.

Acknowledgments: We thank the anonymous reviewers for their thorough review and highly appreciate the comments and suggestions, which significantly contributed to improving the quality of the publication.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. The funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, or in the decision to publish the results.

References

- Kanovei, V.; Lyubetsky, V. A definable *E*₀ class containing no definable elements. *Arch. Math. Logic* 2015, 54, 711–723. [CrossRef]
- Golshani, M.; Kanovei, V.; Lyubetsky, V. A Groszek—Laver pair of undistinguishable E₀ classes. *Math. Logic Q.* 2017, 63, 19–31. [CrossRef]
- Kanovei, V.; Lyubetsky, V. Definable E₀ classes at arbitrary projective levels. *Ann. Pure Appl. Logic* 2018, 169, 851–871. [CrossRef]
- 4. Kanovei, V.; Lyubetsky, V. Models of set theory in which nonconstructible reals first appear at a given projective level. *Mathematics* **2020**, *8*, 910. [CrossRef]
- 5. Kanovei, V.; Lyubetsky, V. On the Δ_n^1 problem of Harvey Friedman. *Mathematics* **2020**, *8*, 1477. [CrossRef]
- Hadamard, J.; Baire, R.; Lebesgue, H.; Borel, E. Cinq lettres sur la théorie des ensembles. *Bull. Soc. Math. Fr.* 1905, 33, 261–273. [CrossRef]
- 7. Karagila, A. The Bristol model: An abyss called a Cohen reals. J. Math. Log. 2018, 18, 1850008. [CrossRef]
- Antos, C.; Friedman, S.D. Hyperclass forcing in Morse-Kelley class theory. J. Symb. Log. 2017, 82, 549–575. [CrossRef]
- 9. Antos, C.; Friedman, S.D.; Honzik, R.; Ternullo, C. (Eds.) *The Hyperuniverse Project and Maximality*; Birkhäuser: Cham, Switzerland, 2018; xi + 270p.
- 10. Cummings, J.; Friedman, S.D.; Magidor, M.; Rinot, A.; Sinapova, D. Ordinal definable subsets of singular cardinals. *Isr. J. Math.* **2018**, 226, 781–804. [CrossRef]
- 11. Chan, W. Ordinal definability and combinatorics of equivalence relations. *J. Math. Log.* **2019**, *19*, 1950009. [CrossRef]
- 12. Fischer, V.; Schrittesser, D. A Sacks indestructible co-analytic maximal eventually different family. *Fundam. Math.* **2020**. [CrossRef]
- 13. Enayat, A.; Kanovei, V. An unpublished theorem of Solovay on OD partitions of reals into two non-OD parts, revisited. *J. Math. Log.* **2020**, 1–22. [CrossRef]
- 14. Tarski, A. Der Wahrheitsbegriff in den formalisierten Sprachen. Studia Philos. 1935, 1, 261–401.

- 15. Murawski, R. Undefinability of truth. The problem of priority: Tarski vs Gödel. *Hist. Philos. Log.* **1998**, 19, 153–160. [CrossRef]
- 16. Addison, J.W. Tarski's theory of definability: Common themes in descriptive set theory, recursive function theory, classical pure logic, and finite-universe logic. *Ann. Pure Appl. Logic* **2004**, *126*, 77–92. [CrossRef]
- 17. Tarski, A. Sur les ensembles définissables de nombres réels. I. Fundam. Math. 1931, 17, 210–239. [CrossRef]
- 18. Tarski, A. A problem concerning the notion of definability. J. Symb. Log. 1948, 13, 107–111. [CrossRef]
- 19. Gödel, K. *The Consistency of the Continuum Hypothesis*; Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 3; Princeton University Press: Princeton, NJ, USA, 1940; p. 66. [CrossRef]
- 20. Mathias, A.R.D. Surrealist landscape with figures (a survey of recent results in set theory). *Period. Math. Hung.* **1979**, *10*, 109–175.
- 21. Friedman, H. One hundred and two problems in mathematical logic. J. Symb. Log. 1975, 40, 113–129. [CrossRef]
- 22. Harrington, L. The Constructible Reals Can Be Anything. Preprint dated May 1974 with several addenda dated up to October 1975: (A) Models Where Separation Principles Fail, May 74; (B) Separation without Reduction, April 75; (C) The Constructible Reals Can Be (Almost) Anything, Part II, May 75. Available online: http://logic-library.berkeley.edu/catalog/detail/2135 (accessed on 9 December 2020).
- 23. Jensen, R.B.; Solovay, R.M. Some applications of almost disjoint sets. In *Math. Logic Found. Set Theory, Proc. Int. Colloqu., Jerusalem 1968*; Studies in Logic and the Foundations of Mathematics; Bar-Hillel, Y., Ed.; North-Holland: Amsterdam, The Netherlands; London, UK, 1970; Volume 59, pp. 84–104.
- 24. Hinman, P.G. *Recursion-Theoretic Hierarchies;* Perspectives in Mathematical Logic; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 1978; x + 480p.
- 25. Harrington, L. Long projective wellorderings. Ann. Math. Logic 1977, 12, 1–24. [CrossRef]
- 26. Friedman, S.D. Constructibility and class forcing. In *Handbook of Set Theory. In 3 Volumes;* Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2010; pp. 557–604.
- 27. Friedman, S.D. *Fine Structure and Class Forcing*; De Gruyter Series in Logic and Its Applications; de Gruyter: Berlin, Germany, 2000; Volume 3, x + 221p. [CrossRef]
- Kanovei, V.; Lyubetsky, V. Definable minimal collapse functions at arbitrary projective levels. *J. Symb. Log.* 2019, *84*, 266–289. [CrossRef]
- 29. Kanovei, V.; Lyubetsky, V. Non-uniformizable sets with countable cross-sections on a given level of the projective hierarchy. *Fundam. Math.* **2019**, 245, 175–215.
- 30. Kanovei, V.; Lyubetsky, V. Models of set theory in which separation theorem fails. *Izvestiya: Math.* **2021**, *85*, to appear.
- 31. Barwise, J. (Ed.) *Handbook of Mathematical Logic;* Studies in Logic and the Foundations of Mathematics; North-Holland: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1977; Volumed 90, p. 1165.
- 32. Jech, T. *Set Theory*; The Third Millennium Revised and Expanded Ed.; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2003. xiii + 769p. [CrossRef]
- Addison, J.W. Some consequences of the axiom of constructibility. *Fundam. Math.* 1959, 46, 337–357. [CrossRef]
- 34. Jensen, R.B.; Johnsbraten, H. A new construction of a non-constructible Δ_3^1 subset of ω . *Fundam. Math.* **1974**, *81*, 279–290.
- 35. Kunen, K. Set Theory; Studies in Logic; College Publications: London, UK, 2011; Volume 34, viii + 401p.
- Shoenfield, J.R. Unramified forcing. In Axiomatic Set Theory. Proc. Sympos. Pure Math.; Scott, D.S., Ed.; AMS: Providence, RI, USA, 1971; Volume 13, Part 1, pp. 357–381. [CrossRef]
- 37. Kanovei, V. On the nonemptiness of classes in axiomatic set theory. Math. USSR, Izv. 1978, 12, 507–535.
- Jensen, R. Definable sets of minimal degree. In *Math. Logic Found. Set Theory, Proc. Int. Colloqu., Jerusalem 1968;* Studies in Logic and the Foundations of Mathematics; Bar-Hillel, Y., Ed.; North-Holland: Amsterdam, The Netherlands; London, UK, 1970; Volume 59, pp. 122–128. [CrossRef]
- 39. Friedman, S.D.; Gitman, V.; Kanovei, V. A model of second-order arithmetic satisfying AC but not DC. *J. Math. Log.* **2019**, *19*, 1850013. [CrossRef]
- 40. Kanovei, V.; Lyubetsky, V. Counterexamples to countable-section Π_2^1 uniformization and Π_3^1 separation. Ann. Pure Appl. Logic **2016**, 167, 262–283. [CrossRef]
- 41. Abraham, U. A minimal model for $\neg CH$: iteration of Jensen's reals. *Trans. Am. Math. Soc.* **1984**, 281, 657–674. [CrossRef]
- 42. Abraham, U. Minimal model of " \aleph_1^L is countable" and definable reals. *Adv. Math.* **1985**, 55, 75–89. [CrossRef]

- 43. Kanovei, V.; Lyubetsky, V. Non-uniformizable sets of second projective level with countable cross-sections in the form of Vitali classes. *Izv. Math.* **2018**, *82*, 61–90. [CrossRef]
- 44. Groszek, M.; Jech, T. Generalized iteration of forcing. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 1991, 324, 1–26. [CrossRef]
- 45. Groszek, M.; Laver, R. Finite groups of OD-conjugates. Period. Math. Hung. 1987, 18, 87–97. [CrossRef]
- 46. Kanovei, V. On non-wellfounded iterations of the perfect set forcing. *J. Symb. Log.* **1999**, *64*, 551–574. [CrossRef]
- 47. Versaci, M.; di Barba, P.; Morabito, F.C. Curvature-Dependent Electrostatic Field as a Principle for Modelling Membrane-Based MEMS Devices. A Review. *Membranes* **2020**, *10*. [CrossRef]
- 48. David, R. Δ_3^1 reals. Ann. Math. Logic **1982**, 23, 121–125. [CrossRef]
- 49. David, R. A very absolute Π_2^1 real singleton. *Ann. Math. Logic* **1982**, 23, 101–120. [CrossRef]
- 50. Kanovei, V.; Lyubetsky, V. The full basis theorem does not imply analytic wellordering. *Ann. Pure Appl. Logic* **2020**, Online. [CrossRef]

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).